
 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held in the 
 

The Guildhall, St. Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE. 
 

on Monday, 5 December 2016 
 

at 6:00 pm. 
 

D Kennedy 
Chief Executive  

AGENDA 

 
1. APOLOGIES    

Please contact Democratic Services on 01604 837722 or 
democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk when submitting 
apologies for absence.  

 

  
2. DEPUTATIONS / PUBLIC ADDRESSES    
  
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
  
4. MATTERS OF URGENCY WHICH BY REASON OF 

SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES THE CHAIR IS OF THE 
OPINION SHOULD BE CONSIDERED   

 

  
5. INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT ON LOAN POLICIES AND 

PROCEDURES RELATING TO LOAN FINANCE TO 
NORTHAMPTON TOWN FOOTBALL CLUB   

 

(Copy herewith)   
  
6. GOVERNANCE ACTION PLAN    

(Copy herewith)   
  
7. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS    

THE CHAIR TO MOVE: 
“THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM THE 
REMAINDER OF THE MEETING ON THE GROUNDS THAT 
THERE IS LIKELY TO BE DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF SUCH 
CATEGORIES OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED BY 
SECTION 100(1) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS 
LISTED AGAINST SUCH ITEMS OF BUSINESS BY 
REFERENCE TO THE APPROPRIATE PARAGRAPH OF 
SCHEDULE 12A TO SUCH ACT.”  

 

  
 
 

 



Public Participation 
Members of the public may address the Committee on any non-procedural matter listed on this agenda.  
Addresses shall not last longer than three minutes.  Committee members may then ask questions of the 
speaker.  No prior notice is required prior to the commencement of the meeting of a request to address the 
Committee. 

 

  



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC 
 

 
Audit Committee Meeting Date: 
 
Policy Document: 

 
 

Directorate: 
 
 

Accountable Cabinet Member:  
 

  
5th December 2016 
 
No 
 
Chief Executive 
 
N/a 
 

 

1. Purpose 

 
1.1 To report to the Audit Committee on the findings of the internal audit review 

of policies and procedures relating to the provision of loan finance to 
Northampton Town Football Club (NTFC). 

 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit Committee note the findings and lessons 

learnt outlined in the report from the Council’s internal auditor attached at 
Appendix 1. 

 
3. Issues and Choices 

 
3.1 Report Background 
 
3.1.1 At an Extraordinary Meeting of Council on 2nd November 2015 it was agreed 

as follows: 
 
Audit committee to review our policies and procedures and make 
recommendations necessary for implementation in business arrangements of 
this nature. The Audit Committee would then present any recommendations 
to Full Council. 
 

3.1.2 The Audit Committee discussed this resolution at their meeting on 9th 
November 2015, requesting a report to its next meeting on 18th January 
2016. As part of this report the Audit Committee approved the Terms of 

Report Title 
 

Internal Audit Report on loan policies and procedures 
relating to loan finance to Northampton Town Football 
Club 

Appendices 
 

A.  PWC Audit 
report NTFC 
November 2016 

1

Agenda Item 5



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

Reference for a review of the policies and procedures relating to the 
provision of loan finance to NTFC to be undertaken by the Council’s internal 
auditor, Pricewaterhouse Coopers (PwC). 
 

3.1.3 The report of the internal auditor is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
3.2 Choices (Options) 
 
3.2.1 Not applicable. 
 
4. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
4.1 Policy 
 
4.1.1 None specifically any from this report but there will be changes to various 

policies as part of the Governance Action Plan to be presented to this Audit 
Committee meeting. 

 
4.2 Resources and Risk 

 
4.2.1 None specifically to report at present. 
 
4.3 Legal 
  
4.3.1 None specifically from this report although various due diligence changes are 

to be considered in the Governance Action Plan to be presented to this Audit 
Committee meeting. 

 
4.4 Equality 
 
4.4.1 None specifically, although any changes to policy arising from the 

Government Action Plan will be supported by full Equality/Community Impact 
assessment. 

 
4.5 Consultees (Internal and External) 

 
4.5.1 PwC have consulted internally, and with the Council’s external auditor KPMG 

and the Police. 

4.6 Other Implications 
 

4.6.1 None. 

 
5. Background Papers 

 
5.1 None to date. 
 
 

 
Glenn Hammons 

Chief Finance Officer, Telephone 01604 366521 

2



www.pwc.co.uk

Review of policies and
procedures relating to
the provision of loan
finance to Northampton
Town Football Club

Northampton
Borough Council

November 2016

3

epowley
Text Box
Appendix A



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 2 of 32

Contents

Executive Summary 3

Background 3

Scope 3

Limitations of scope 4

Approach 4

Key findings 5

Business case and decision making process 5

Loan agreement 6

Governance 7

Risk management 8

Performance management 8

Management information 9

Financial controls 9

Project Management 10

Conclusion 10

Findings 12

Findings against the terms of reference 12

Business case and decision making process 12

Loan agreement 16

Governance 20

Risk management 21

Performance management 22

Management information 23

Financial controls 23

Project management 26

Lessons learnt 27

Appendix 1. Repayment Schedule 29

Appendix 2. Capital repayment dates 31

4



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 3 of 32

Executive Summary

Background
In July 2013, the Cabinet of Northampton Borough Council (‘NBC’ or ‘the Council’) approved a decision to loan
monies to Northampton Town Football Club (NTFC) to pay for improvements to its Sixfields Football Stadium
and to build a hotel. This builds on a 2011 Conservative manifesto pledge:

A Conservative administration will actively support development plans for retail and commercial
opportunities that will provide our sports clubs with funding for the development of their teams and
facilities

A loan agreement was prepared and funding was passed to the football club between September 2013 and August
2014. The Council also entered into an agreement for the development of residential and commercial properties
around Sixfields on land, owned by the Council and the Homes and Communities Agency. The receipts from this
development and additional revenues arising from the improved facilities at the Stadium would repay the loan.

In late 2014 the works to improve the east stand at the stadium ceased following a dispute between the Football
Club, the developers (County Developments Northampton Limited) and the building contractors (First Land
Limited). The parties resolved their dispute, without the involvement of the Council, and works recommenced on
the stadium in early 2015. However, in the spring of 2015 works ceased on the stadium again when the contractor
was not paid. At this time loan repayments to the Council started to be late or were missed but still eventually
paid until early autumn 2015 when payments stopped. Consequently, the loan agreement was cancelled and the
development company, County Developments Northampton Limited was put into liquidation by the contractor,
Buckingham Group Contracting Limited.

The Council continued to try to find a solution to the situation, including ensuring a financially sustainable
Football Club. During this period the Football Club was placed under the threat of a winding up petition from
HMRC which would have led to the Football Club going into liquidation. This prompted more serious action by
the Council, including a request for the full repayment of the loan and a Memorandum of Understanding between
the Council and the Football Club which was agreed in November 2015 to collaborate and work together to ensure
the continued survival of the Football Club.

The Football Club has now been sold to a new buyer and a memorandum of understanding is in place with the
new owner. The Council has informed the police of the situation and has initiated a series of work streams to
investigate the details of the loan agreement, whether there has been any fraudulent action and to seek recovery
of the monies.

Scope
The Audit Committee asked Internal Audit to conduct a review into the provision of loan finance to the Football
Club and in particular to consider the relevant policies and procedures that are applicable to a transaction of this
nature. This review has focused on whether the policies and procedures that were in place were adequate and
whether they were adhered to in this instance.

A number of other investigations have also taken place or are in progress:

- KPMG, the external auditors, have considered the transactions as part of their external audit and
reported their findings in their ISA260 report for 2015/16;

- KPMG are responding to an objection to the Financial Statements; and

- There is an ongoing police investigation.

Our objectives were to comment on:

5



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 4 of 32

 the business case for the transaction

 the decision to accept the case and enter into the transaction, in accordance with the Council’s policies

 the loan agreement

 the governance over the decision and subsequent action

 the risk management over the transaction

 the performance management arrangements for the transaction

 the management information on the transaction

 the financial controls over the transaction

 the project management over the transaction

Limitations of scope
The scope of our work was limited to the areas outlined above and was focused on the internal arrangements
within NBC concerning the provision of loan finance. Our review has only considered the policies and procedures
relating to the provision of loan finance to NTFC and not the activities undertaken in relation to the wider
redevelopment of the Sixfields area and surrounding land.

We are aware of the ongoing Police investigation and External Audit work which have a wider remit considering
other elements of the Sixfields redevelopment. This report does not make reference to any of these topics and is
focused purely on the provision of loan finance, as requested by the Audit Committee and approved as part of our
terms of reference.

Approach
We have been provided access to the Council’s virtual data room which contains a significant number of
documents, collated by the Council in relation to the arrangements with NTFC.

There are a significant number of emails from numerous individuals involved across the Council and external
bodies. There is considerable communication between the following individuals:

 Chief Financial Officer
 Principal lawyer for property, planning and highways; LGSS legal
 Legal contracts and procurement advisor, LGSS Legal
 Corporate Asset Manager

In addition there was a smaller volume of communication from the following individuals:

 Monitoring Officer
 Leader of the Council
 Chief Executive
 Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning

We have sought to review the majority of relevant information in line with the scope of work defined above and
where appropriate we have reviewed the additional information which the Council have provided to respond to
specific queries we have raised. The fact that it has taken the Council a number of months to identify supporting
evidence and the significant volume of correspondence which has subsequently been produced to undertake this,
and other ongoing, reviews indicates a lack of organisation and systematic processes in place at the point of
inception for the loan financing agreement.

6



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 5 of 32

Key findings
Key control
objective

Findings

Business case
and decision
making
process

Detailed and costed
business case to
support the decision
to make financing
available to the
Football Club

We would expect there to have been a full business case, drafted by the Council, to
support the decision to make financing available to NTFC before cabinet approval.
Instead, there was a high level options paper for providing loan finance to NTFC
before the Cabinet decision. However, this was at a very high level and does not
constitute a full and robust business case. The paper concluded that there was a
requirement for a guarantor and that NTFC’s income and capital projections needed
to be objectively assessed. There is no evidence to demonstrate that these actions
were undertaken before Cabinet approval was sought.

In September 2013, following Cabinet approval some due diligence checks were
undertaken, including credit checks and review of latest financial statements.
However, the credit checks identified that the risk of Northampton Town Football
Club Ltd’s failure was “high” owing to the negative net worth of Northampton Town
Football Club Ltd and the fact that the auditor’s report on the financial statements for
the previous four years up to 2012 included an emphasis of matter paragraph
highlighting that there were material uncertainties regarding the Company’s ability
to continue on a going concern basis. It is unclear how the Council responded to the
negative indicators which were identified.

NTFC developed a number of separate business and financial models for the
redevelopment of the Sixfields Stadium and for a hotel on the Sixfields site. These
were re-developed and re-issued to reflect changes. These were shared with the
Council and we have seen copies of these, each being annotated by the Chief Financial
Officer and others, followed by challenge to NTFC and updates. But there was not a
final definitive version to support the decision to provide finance to NTFC.

The earliest business and financial model was not produced until August 2013, the
month following Cabinet approval of the loan finance. Whilst there were a number of
business cases produced, there is no formal evidence available to demonstrate these
were shared with Cabinet or sufficiently challenged by sources independent to both
the Council’s decision making process and the football club.

Decisions based on
adequate, accurate
information in
accordance with the
Council’s financial
regulations

The recommendation to Cabinet should have contained a detailed analysis of the
financial implications and associated sensitivity analyses of the business plan
prepared by the Council.

Instead, the Cabinet paper prepared and presented in July 2013 identifies that “NTFC
have indicated they would like to have an agreed facility with the Council for loan
finance of up to £12 million to support these stadium and hotel / conference centre
plans”. There are no further, specific details about the form of this loan or potential
repayment options. The paper includes a high level summary of the implications,
including: resources, risk, legal and equality considerations. The legal considerations
indicate that the Council is entitled to make a loan of this nature and we have not seen
any evidence to suggest otherwise.

This indicates the Cabinet was not provided with adequate information on which to
provide full approval. Approval from Cabinet appears to have been a “decision in
principle”. Which is reflective of the meeting minutes which state “Cabinet approved
the principle of providing loan finance”. Approval and delegation of responsibility for
the amounts and terms of any loan finance arrangements were subject to a number
of additional requirements which were defined in the Cabinet Report.

7



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 6 of 32

The financial regulations state that where functions are delegated, Cabinet remains
accountable for them to the Full Council. Although responsibility for the amounts
and terms of any loan finance arrangements were delegated, ultimate responsibility
for the loan was retained by Cabinet.

Loan
agreement

Decision taken by
Council translated
into a formal loan
agreement

Once the decision was made to provide loan financing to NTFC, this should have
translated into a formal loan agreement taking into account the conditions and
limitations imposed by Cabinet in July 2013. The conditions and limitations were:

 No net or initial costs to the Council of setting up and administering the loan
finance

 Sufficient tangible security is offered until full repayment is made

 Length of the loan and its repayment are linked to the timing of additional
revenue generated by the club

 Income projections are sufficient to service the debt

 Robust contractual arrangements in place between NTFC and a third party
to secure minimum future levels of income

There is no record of the Council having undertaken a formal assessment against the
Cabinet requirements before entering into the facility agreements. It would have been
good practice for the Council to have undertaken such an exercise prior to entering
into the facility agreements. Whilst these have been complied with to some extent, we
have been unable to confirm that these were complied with fully, addressing all
concerns. For these reasons, we have been unable to confirm that the decisions taken
were in line with the delegated authority.

The Cabinet report of July 2013 delegated the actions required and responsibility for
entering into the facility agreements appropriately to the Chief Executive, in
consultation with the Section 151 Officer and Leader of the Council. Delegation of this
nature is in compliance with the financial regulations of the Council. The Cabinet
paper also delegated to the Director of Regeneration Enterprise and Planning the
authority, in consultations with the leader of the Council, to agree the terms of
transfer of the land. Since our scope of work is limited to the loan agreement we have
not considered this delegation further.

The original Cabinet report included reference to loan finance of “up to £12m”; the
subsequent facility agreements entered into total £13.5m. Officers sought legal advice
from LGSS which determined that since the recorded decision does not reference a
specific figure additional Cabinet approval for the additional £1.5m was not required
and approval up to £13.5m was in line with the existing decision. For the purposes of
transparency and openness it would have been good practice to obtain further
Cabinet approval for the additional monies as whilst the decision does not reference
a specific amount the Cabinet report does clearly refer to “up to £12m”.

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting on the 13 July 2013 clearly identify that three
opposition members raised concerns about the approval in principle. No information
has been provided which identifies whether these concerns were investigated and
adequately resolved.

Professional advice
in producing the
agreement

A transaction of this sort requires appropriate professional advice, particularly in
drafting a robust, formal loan agreement which addressed the conditions imposed by
Cabinet in July 2013.

We have been given access to the Council’s virtual data room which contains a
significant number of emails from numerous individuals involved in preparing the
facility agreements. Review of the email correspondence demonstrates that there
were ongoing discussions internally around financial, legal and statutory duties in
preparing the facility agreements, alongside consideration of risks and potential
mitigations.

8



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 7 of 32

Capita Asset Services reported on key matters for consideration in providing loans to
NTFC. The report focuses on the legal considerations, state aid considerations, soft
loan and capital accounting implications associated with the financial assistance. It
does not consider affordability or suitability of the proposed option and the
disclaimer indicates that Capita were not instructed to complete any due diligence
work associated with the proposed loan to NTFC.

A number of the emails raise concerns about the short timescales and pressure from
management and politicians to conclude arrangements. It is evident that these time
pressures significantly reduced the Council’s ability to challenge and fully evaluate
the professional advice it had obtained as part of the preparation for the Football Club
loan.

Email correspondence between the leader and officers highlights the importance of
the transaction and the desire to conclude the transaction promptly.

The political commitment in the Conservative manifesto, along with the July 2013
Cabinet decision was considered a commitment to provide loan financing, despite
there being limited information available at this time. Detailed business cases, due
diligence checks and professional legal advice were not obtained until after the
Cabinet approval was obtained. Whilst due diligence checks were undertaken we were
unable to identify evidence that the issues identified were adequately resolved before
the transaction was completed.

Whilst the email correspondence demonstrates the involvement of appropriate
professionals in producing and monitoring the agreement the emails the volume of
evidence provided from across the organisation suggests that this did not follow a
formal, defined process.

Governance

Governance
arrangements to
oversee the
agreement

Governance needed to be put in place which would operate throughout the term of
the agreement.

The Council’s virtual data room includes emails which evidence ongoing
communication within the Council involving suitable individuals in reviewing the
arrangements and performance against the facility agreement. In our view, these
were more ad hoc rather than structured, and the records do not show a coherent
picture of effective governance. Following discussion with the Council in August
2016, we were subsequently provided with additional information not originally
available which included minutes from the Programme Board meetings and Project
Highlight reports which demonstrate that there was oversight and governance in
place regarding the redevelopment of the wider Sixfields regeneration project.
However, these are focused on the operational aspects of the programme and do not
separately identify performance of the loan agreement.

The available information, including substantial email correspondence,
demonstrates that the project involved a significant number of senior officers;
including the Chief Executive, Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer and Director of
Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning, amongst others which one might expect
given this is a key priority for the administration. We have seen no evidence to
demonstrate that the governance arrangements and oversight for the loan agreement
was formalised. The fact that the subject attracted such a senior level of involvement
indicates that efforts were made to challenge and address the potential issues
associated with providing loan financing to NTFC. However, it is unusual to have
such senior officers being involved in day to day activities of the Council and it would
have been beneficial to have had an officer stay removed from the day to day activities
to ensure there was an individual officer who could retain oversight of the transaction.

9



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 8 of 32

Risk
management

Risks identified,
assessed and
appropriate
mitigations in place.

Risk assessment should form part of any significant decision. Any risks identified
should be mitigated to the fullest extent possible and monitored for the duration of
the project.

Officers indicated that a risk assessment was considered as part of the decision
making process and that risks were identified and mitigated throughout the project
as part of the Sixfields land development project. The Sixfields Programme Board
meetings and discussion of the Project Highlight Report included consideration of
the risks associated with the wider site redevelopment. However, we have been
unable to identify any formal risk assessment documentation which was produced
specifically in relation to the provision of loan finance as part of the decision making
progress, nor any evidence which demonstrates that the provision of loan finance and
its associated risks were considered as part of the strategic or service area risk
registers.

As part of its Treasury Management Strategy the Council sets out the broad Treasury
risks facing the Council and how these will be mitigated. We found no specific
consideration of the Football Club loan agreement in sufficient detail to identify and
address specific risks. The Council has since updated its Treasury Management
procedures to address this going forward, including a specific provision for loans to
third parties and commitment that the Council’s Treasury Strategy incorporates the
limits and permissions required to allow future borrowing to go ahead.

As indicated above there is evidence to demonstrate ongoing challenge, identification
and resolution of risks as part of the ongoing email correspondence. But this was not
undertaken on a formal basis and the thousands of emails make it difficult to identify
whether sufficient action was taken to identify and mitigate risks.

The Constitution states that the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for collating the
Council’s Strategic Risk Register and ensuring it is reported to Cabinet and the Audit
Committee at least annually. In addition, the Chief Officers should maintain a register
of risks affecting their service areas, including corporate risks. Since there was no
formal risk management documentation it was not possible for the Council to review
and update its risk assessment on a regular basis and we judge that the Constitution
was not followed in this respect.

Risks reviewed on a
regular basis and
action taken to
protect the Council’s
interests

Performance
management

Arrangements to
monitor and manage
performance of the
agreement

We would expect there to have been formal performance management arrangements
established to monitor and manage performance of the agreement.

Whilst there was ongoing involvement of the Council following the establishment of
the facility agreement this extended to a number of other areas, including
arrangements with the HCA and wider developments in the area, which did not
directly relate to the performance management of the facility agreements. Once
again, the performance management activities focused on the wider Sixfields
redevelopment through the project team meetings and there is no explicit
consideration of the loan agreement in place.

Although the terms and conditions of the facility agreements were being adhered to
it should have been clear that the physical progress of the Sixfields redevelopment
did not align with the amount of money drawn down. It is understood that informal
site visits did take place, although there is no documented evidence of this. Even so
there appears to have been no formal correlation between progress with the works
progress and the loan monies permitted for draw down.

There were no formal performance management processes established to oversee the
facility agreements. The documentation provided to NTFC as part of each tranche
drawdown associated with each facility agreement was accompanied by a Loan Term

10



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 9 of 32

Sheet and Repayment Schedule detailing when interest payments were due.
Performance against these repayment dates was monitored by the LGSS Finance
team and we have seen email correspondence between the Council and NTFC in
following up late payments immediately and trying to reach a resolution to secure
repayment from NTFC. In addition, we have seen annotated copies of the different
models which demonstrate that Council employees, including the Chief Financial
Officer, reviewed the business models prepared by NTFC and challenged a number
of the figures included which prompted updates and amendments to the business
cases.

The evidence demonstrates that the cash flows and compliance with the repayment
schedules were monitored and followed up. However, there was no formal
monitoring of the physical progress of the construction works which, despite not
being a works contract, would still have provided substantial assurance that the loan
was being used appropriately.

Management
information

Format and content
of management
information for
effective governance
and performance
management

As part of the formal performance management and governance arrangements
management information should have been produced which provided management
with adequate information to facilitate ongoing governance and performance
management. This type of loan and agreement was a new undertaking for the Council
and the significant sums involved provided additional risk indicators which should
have prompted detailed, regular management information.

There was no formal management information process defined in relation to
performance of the facility agreements. As identified above, the evidence of LGSS
Finance escalating overdue payments and following up with NTFC does indicate
some element of management information was received even though there was no
formal defined process in place for this.

From the information reviewed it is apparent that once the facility agreements had
been formalised and provision of loan finance secured the Council focused on areas
of the wider Sixfields development, including arrangements with the HCA and these
areas were the subsequent focus of governance, performance management and
management information.

Financial
controls

Adequate
information in the
agreement on the
financial obligations
and payment
mechanisms

In all instances the stipulated precondition for the drawdown of the loan was satisfied
and funds were released in line with the Constitution following Chief Financial Officer
approval.

Whilst the drawdowns were made in compliance with the terms specified in the
relevant Facility Agreement, that these terms were unsuitable as the basis for the
tranche drawdown. It is understood that the conditions used were the result of
commercial negotiations which required compromise from both the Council and
Football Club regarding the timing of payment drawdowns. Too large a proportion of
the funds were drawdown at too early a stage in the project. It is difficult to see how
each drawdown was based on an assessment of progress or value for money. Indeed,
it would appear that the loan terms meant that the loan was drawn down in advance
of need.

The physical progress of the stadium development should have provided a warning
sign that the development was not progressing at the rate expected or in line with the
funds provided. In spite of this the Council continued to permit drawdowns on the

11



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 10 of 32

loan agreement since the Football Club were in compliance with the Facility
Agreement terms.

In August 2014 a variation to the original planning permission was registered which
identified that the East Stand would no longer include a conference and banqueting
facility and there would be a reduction to the proposed increased capacity. This
planning application was approved in September 2014. Despite the changes to the
planned construction works we have not seen any evidence to indicate that the
construction changes were reflected in the structure of the loan and there is no
alignment between the final loan drawdown in August and the revised planned
construction works.

We have confirmed that each of the planned payment due dates recorded is in line
with the issued Loan and Repayment Schedule. As noted above, performance against
the scheduled repayment dates was monitored by the LGSS Finance team and we
have seen email correspondence between the Council and NTFC in following up late
payments immediately and trying to reach a resolution to secure repayment from
NTFC, up until the point at which the Council requested all outstanding monies to be
repaid.

Financial exposure
identified and
reported immediately
to protect the
Council’s interests

Drawdowns of the loan finance were made between 20 September 2013 and 19
August 2014. Wider issues around the NTFC contractor’s administration and
cessation of works on site did not occur until March 2015 and at the time of making
the facility agreement drawdowns there was limited indication of future concerns.
The first delayed interest repayment occurred on 19 February 2015, which was six
days overdue, and the first repayment which was not made was not due until 28
August 2015, again after all drawdowns had already been made.

In response to NTFC’s failure to make the scheduled interest repayment on 28 August
2015, the Council issued a notice to NTFC on 24 September 2015 requesting that all
monies be repaid under the terms of the facility agreements.

Project
Management
Arrangements to
project manage the
agreement and
financial
arrangements

Ongoing project management arrangements should have been established to oversee
the agreements, financial arrangements and review progress on a regular basis to
ensure that the Council’s interests were protected and any risks mitigated.

Officers indicated that regular project management meetings were held to provide an
update on progress and enabled officers to mitigate any risks which were identified
throughout the project. Review of the evidence available demonstrates that there was
oversight and governance in place regarding the redevelopment of the wider Sixfields
regeneration project. However, these are focused on the operational aspects of the
programme and do not separately address the performance of the loan agreement.

As previously identified there are a number of emails between all involved parties
throughout the duration of the arrangement which demonstrates clearly there was
ongoing involvement and interaction with all parties. Whilst the email
correspondence demonstrates the involvement of appropriate professionals in
producing and monitoring the agreement the fact that the Council has taken months
to identify and collate a series of thousands of emails to demonstrate the adequacy of
the professional advice indicates that the arrangements were informal and did not
follow a strict procedural process.

Regular reviews of
the project
management
arrangements to
ensure that the
Council’s interests
were protected and
any risks mitigated.

Conclusion
We concluded that:

12



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 11 of 32

- Cabinet approved a loan of up to £12m, but this decision was based on limited information as a business
case was not made available

- A number of conditions were made by Cabinet and we have been unable to confirm that these were
complied with fully, addressing all concerns. For these reasons, we have been unable to confirm that
decisions taken were in line with the delegated authority. There were loan agreements established to
formalise the provision of finance and drawdowns of the finance were made in line with the relevant
terms and conditions and established procedures requiring approval from officers. The information
reviewed demonstrates that there was a lack of formal processes implemented and adhered to regarding
risk management, project management, management information and performance management.
Whilst there is evidence to show the Council has challenged some areas and professional advice has been
sought, the fact that the Council has taken months to identify and collate a series of thousands of emails
to evidence the adequacy of the actions undertaken highlights that the arrangements were informal and
did not follow a strict procedural process. Where issues have been identified the volume of evidence
available makes it very difficult to demonstrate that all issues were adequately resolved.

This incident demonstrates the need for careful thought, structure, independent advice and monitoring in making
a decision on a transaction which was significant and unusual.

We attempted to reconstruct the thought process for the decision made and for subsequent monitoring. Our view
is that the Council failed to demonstrate this in its data room. This was made extremely difficult because of a lack
of an approved business case, appropriate independent advice and documented risk management and
governance processes. These documents need to be at the same time concise and comprehensive. We found the
documentation we were presented with to be neither.

The significant time invested by the Council in retrospectively collating information and evidence to demonstrate
adequate governance, risk and performance management indicates that this was not undertaken in a formal,
process driven manner at the time of inception. The fact that there are thousands of emails and sources of
evidence to demonstrate the actions undertaken is confusing and fails to demonstrate adequately ownership and
control of the situation.

It is apparent that the overriding focus on the Sixfields redevelopment was on the operational aspects and
subsequent governance arrangements failed to identify and address adequately the loan agreement.

13



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 12 of 32

Findings

Findings against the terms of reference
Key control objective Findings

Business case and decision making process
Suitably detailed and costed
business case was produced
to support the decision to
make financing available to
the Football Club

Before the Cabinet approval was obtained a paper was prepared in June 2013 by the Council’s Corporate Asset Manager which
set out the potential options for how NBC could support in financing the football stadium and hotel development. This also
considered NTFC’s sources of income for repaying the Council. The paper references key issues and risks at a very high level,
concluding that there was a requirement for a guarantor and that NTFC’s income and capital projections needed to be
objectively assessed. There is no evidence to demonstrate that these were undertaken before Cabinet approval was sought.

Two cash flow forecasts were prepared by County Group Development in late June 2013 which consider the residential
redevelopment and multi-use redevelopment of the Sixfields site; neither consider the stadium expansion element of the
program which was described as one of the key purposes of the loan finance in the Cabinet report. We have not been provided
with any evidence to demonstrate that these reports were objectively assessed by the Council or assumptions subject to
adequate scrutiny and evaluation.

The Cabinet decision was approved on 17th July 2013 and subsequently the football club prepared business cases and the
Council undertook due diligence checks.

This included a report prepared by Capita Asset Services, dated 17 September 2013, which considered key matters for
consideration in connection with the provision of loans to NTFC. The report focuses on legal considerations, state aid
considerations, soft loan and capital accounting implications associated with the financial assistance. It does not consider
affordability or suitability of the proposed options. Assessing the suitability of the advice taken regarding State Aid is not in
the remit of our scope of work. No further information has been provided regarding Capita’s agreed scope of work or how the
report was used by the Council. There is a clear disclaimer which indicates that Capita were not instructed to complete any
work on securitisation/collateral or risk and due diligence associated with the proposed loan to NTFC. No further information
has been identified to demonstrate that the recommendation that NTFC’s income and capital projections were objectively
assessed.

Due diligence checks were undertaken by the Council including Dun & Bradstreet credit checks for Northampton Town
Football Club Ltd and other associations including: Northampton Town FC Football in the Community Programme, NTFC
Ltd, Sixfields Stadium Co Ltd, Premier Sports Stadia Ltd, County Developments (Northampton) Ltd, Cobblers Rugby Football
League Ltd. However, these checks identified that the risk of Northampton Town Football Club Ltd’s failure was “high” owing
to the negative net worth of Northampton Town Football Club Ltd and the fact that the auditor’s report on the financial

14



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 13 of 32

statements for the previous four years up to 2012 included an emphasis of matter paragraph highlighting that there were
material uncertainties regarding the Company’s ability to continue on a going concern basis.

Northampton Town Football Club Ltd’s audited accounts for 2013, 2012 and 2011 have also been obtained. These show that
the company made a loss of £221,555 and was in a net liabilities position as at 30 June 2013. We have not seen any evidence
to show how these negative indicators were considered and responded to. Some due diligence activities were undertaken but
the results from both internal and external evidence were not formalised, collated and issues identified, considered and
adequately resolved before a decision was taken to provide loan finance to NTFC.

NTFC developed numerous business and financial models for the redevelopment of the Sixfields Stadium and for a hotel on
the Sixfields site between August 2013 to March 2015 and April 2014 to November 2014 for the stadium and hotel respectively.
Each of the models included specific details of assumptions used, five year profit and loss forecast, five year cash flow forecast
and later models were developed to include a number of sensitivity analyses. These documents were shared with the Council
throughout the period. Whilst the projected expenditure includes an element of redevelopment loan interest these business
and financial models were not directly linked to the planned Council financing but were instead to demonstrate the improved
financial position of NTFC following redevelopment.

There was no final version of the business and financial models for each of the schemes and each document states that the
“business model will be developed as part of the ongoing budgetary control procedures in place at the club” which explains
the number of business cases developed over the period. An update report prepared in November 2014 summarising the
changes states that the business and financial models have been continuously developed due to the significant uncertainty at
the outset of the project.

There is also a statement in the models that “any third party relying upon [the financial and business model] is advised to
undertake whatever due diligence they feel appropriate to test the assumptions contained”. We have not seen a separate
business case, developed by the Council, to support the decision to provide loan finance to the Football Club. Although the
business case was developed by NTFC these documents were shared with the Council throughout the period. We have seen
annotated copies of the different models which demonstrate that Council employees, including the Chief Financial Officer,
reviewed the models and challenged a number of the figures included which prompted updates and amendments to the
documents and inclusion of detailed sensitivity analysis.

Whilst there was clearly some preliminary work done in assessing potential options for providing loan finance to NTFC before
the Cabinet decision, this was at a very high level and does not constitute a full and robust business case. The timing of the
subsequent business cases fails to support the fact that sufficient evidence was available to support the decision to make
financing available to NTFC at the point at which Cabinet approval was sought. The earliest business and financial model was
not produced until August 2013, the month following Cabinet approval of loan finance. The first legal facility agreement, in
relation to the Stadium redevelopment, was signed in September 2013 which does suggest that the first copy of the business
and financial model was available. Similarly, the legal facility agreement, in relation to the Hotel redevelopment, was signed
in July 2014 which suggests that an early version of the business case was available. Whilst some due diligence checks were
undertaken it is unclear how the Council responded to the negative indicators which were identified.

The information reviewed identifies that there were a number of detailed and costed business cases produced; however
there are inadequate records to demonstrate that these were sufficiently challenged. Before Cabinet approval a high level
options paper was prepared, subject to a number of conditions, which outlined potential options for providing financial

15



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 14 of 32

support to NTFC. The timing of the detailed business cases, prepared after Cabinet approval, indicates that adequate
information was not available at the time a decision was taken to make financing available to the Football Club. Going
forward, the Council should ensure business cases are fully developed by the Council and finalised before any decision is
taken by members.

Decisions are based on
adequate, accurate
information and are in
accordance with Council
financial regulations

Cabinet approved in principle, the decision to provide loan finance to NTFC to support stadium expansion and development
of associated land on the 13 July 2013, delegating authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer
and Leader of the Council, to approve the amounts and terms of any loan finance arrangements subject to a number of
conditions. The Cabinet paper also delegated to the Director of Regeneration Enterprise and Planning the authority, in
consultations with the leader of the Council, to agree the terms of transfer of the land. Since our scope of work is limited to
the loan agreement we have not considered this delegation further.

The provision of loan finance to NTFC to support stadium expansion formally commenced on 18 September 2013 with a
facility agreement for £7.5m. This was subsequently followed with an additional facility agreement signed 14 April 2014 for
£1.5m and a final facility agreement signed on 23 July 2014 for £4.5m to support the hotel redevelopment. To summarise,
there was a formal agreement in place for the provision of the following monies to NTFC:

Agreement Date Amount
Stadium facility agreement 18 September 2013 £7,500,000
Additional loan facility agreement 14 April 2014 £1,500,000
Hotel facility agreement 23 July 2014 £4,500,000
Total £13,500,000

Cabinet Decision

We have reviewed the paper provided to Cabinet in July 2013 to consider whether the decision to approve the provision of
loan finance in principle was based on adequate, accurate information and in accordance with Council’s financial regulations.

The paper identifies that “NTFC have indicated they would like to have an agreed facility with the Council for loan finance of
up to £12 million to support these stadium and hotel / conference centre plans”. This is in line with the Conservative Party
manifesto regarding redevelopment and investment in the Sixfields area. There are no further, specific details about the form
of this loan or repayment options. The paper includes a high level summary of the implications; including: resources, risk,
legal and equality considerations. The legal considerations indicate that the Council is entitled to make a loan of this nature
and we have not seen any evidence to suggest otherwise. This indicates that Cabinet were not provided with adequate
information upon which to provide approval. Instead, the approval from Cabinet does appear to have been very much a
’decision in principle’ but this is mitigated by the fact that approval and delegation of responsibility for the amounts and terms
of any loan finance arrangements are subject to a number of additional requirements. These are summarised as:

1. There would be no net initial or later costs to the Council of setting up, administering and servicing any borrowing it
in turn makes, whether via the Public Works Loans Board or from any other external source, to in turn provide loan
finance to the clubs.

16



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 15 of 32

2. There is sufficient tangible security offered by the clubs to the Council from the time of taking loan finance until full
repayment is made. In the case of the Saints this could be through the Council being granted a legal charge on
Franklins Gardens. In the case of NTFC this may be via legal charges on a combination of assets or other appropriate
arrangements.

3. The length of the loan and its repayment are linked to the timing of additional revenue generated by both clubs from
the expansion, with the principle being any monies loaned should be repaid in the shortest possible time.

4. The income projections from additional revenue generated by both clubs as a result of expansion is sufficient to
service debt owed to the Council, after taking into account any capital sums that are, objectively, judged very likely to
become available to the clubs in the short to medium term.

5. In the case specifically of NTFC‟s proposed hotel development, there are robust contractual arrangements in place
between NTFC and a financially sufficient third party concerning certainty of minimum levels of income for a suitable
minimum period of years.

The minutes of the meeting clearly identify that three opposition members raised concerns. Suggestions were made that the
report should be examined by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with reference to the relocation of the athletics track,
nature of negotiations which had been undertaken and potential legal challenges. The minutes demonstrate the Leader of the
Council had responded and “explained that there had been numerous people involved in negotiations, including himself,
Cabinet Members, the Chief Executive of Northampton Borough Council and the Section 151 Officer. He further commented
that he was happy that the decision was transparent and had been scrutinised by officers but emphasised that there was a
need to make progress as soon as possible”.

No information has been provided which identifies whether these concerns were investigated and adequately resolved, and
there is no record of the report having gone to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Opposition members could have
exercised their right to request the decision to be reviewed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, however, they did not
exercise this right.

Redevelopment of the Sixfields region was a key aspect of the Conservative 2013 election manifesto and the email
correspondence between the leader and officers indicates the importance of the transaction and the desire to conclude the
transaction promptly.

The approval in principle subject to conditions shows that full and accurate data was not available during July 2013 when the
decision was taken. The decision to delegate responsibility to the Leader of the Council, Section 151 Officer and Chief Executive
places the ownership on them to ensure that adequate and accurate data is available to demonstrate the conditions have being
complied with before taking the final decision to enter into any facility agreement.

Cabinet decision and the financial regulations

The financial regulations of NBC define a key decision as an executive decision which is likely to result in the Council incurring
expenditure which is significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function. The Cabinet paper of July
2013 appropriately defines the decision regarding financing NTFC as a key decision. The subsequent approval of the
agreement in principle, and delegation of authority was in line with the financial regulations for the treatment of a key
decision.

17



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 16 of 32

The financial regulations similarly state that “The Cabinet is responsible for approving the Council’s participation in all
significant partnerships/joint working arrangements with other public, private, voluntary and community sector
organisations…. The Cabinet can delegate functions - including those relating to partnerships - to specific Members or
Officers….Where functions are delegated, the Cabinet remains accountable for them to the Full Council”. This demonstrates
that the approval by Cabinet in July 2013 and the decision to delegate subsequent activities was in line with the financial
regulations of the Council. We have not seen any evidence to show that there were reports from Cabinet to Council to show
that they retained accountability for the transaction.

The decision to provide loan finance to NTFC was identified as a “key decision” and approved appropriately in line with the
Council’s financial regulations. However, there are concerns regarding the availability of information to make this decision
since no formal business case had been developed at the time of approving the decision.

Loan agreement
Decision taken by Council is
translated into a formal loan
agreement

Officers decision

The nature of advice sought and information which officers used in making the decision to enter into a facility agreement has
been considered as part of the commentary below. Cabinet approval granted in July 2013 contained a number of conditions,
set out above, which had to be satisfied along with the delegation of responsibility. There is no record of the Council having
undertaken a formal assessment against the Cabinet requirements before having entered into the facility agreements. Before
entering into the facility agreements it would have been good practice to revisit with Cabinet the original decision and provide
an update to demonstrate the conditions had been complied with and to provide details regarding the final agreements.

Compliance with the Cabinet decision conditions has been assessed and reviewed retrospectively with management. We
acknowledge that compliance with these specific conditions is linked to the wider Sixfields redevelopment programme;
however, consideration of the elements beyond the loan financing are outside the remit of our agreed scope of work.

Cabinet decision
condition

Comments

There would be no net
initial or later costs to the
Council of setting up,
administering and
servicing any borrowing it
in turn makes, whether via
the Public Works Loans
Board or from any other
external source, to in turn
provide loan finance to the
clubs.

In all the facility agreements section 10 states:

“the borrower shall, promptly on demand, pay to the Lender the following costs and
expenses (including printing and out of office expenses and disbursements):

- the reasonable legal fees and other professional adviser costs in connection with
the making of Advances, the entry into arrangements by the Lender with the PWLB
and the negotiation, preparation, execution and perfection of the Finance
Documents and the other documents referred to in them;

- the reasonable legal fees and other professional adviser costs in connection with
any amendment, extension, waiver, consent or suspension of rights relating to the
Finance documents or a document referred to in them.”

18



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 17 of 32

There is sufficient tangible
security offered by the
clubs to the Council from
the time of taking loan
finance until full
repayment is made. In the
case of the Saints this
could be through the
Council being granted a
legal charge on Franklins
Gardens. In the case of
NTFC this may be via legal
charges on a combination
of assets or other
appropriate
arrangements.

We acknowledge that the primary security was linked to the development of the land which
would be used to repay the majority of the loan. Initially, the value of the land was assessed by
the developer and CBRE (on behalf of the Council) and it was considered that the £6.5m due
to the Council was realistic.

The Asset Manager was consulted about the value of this land and he confirmed that in his
professional opinion it would offer an opportunity for development given the current sites in
the close vicinity. It was noted that the Stadium site had been decontaminated and the stadium
would need to be demolished. He also commented that the land value would be even greater
with a hotel on site.

In addition, each facility agreement included a corresponding legal mortgage over the long
leasehold of the stadium and surrounding area as security for the facility agreement. Section
15 of the facility agreements states “the borrower legal mortgage creates valid, legally binding
and enforceable security for the obligations expressed to be secured by it”. Email
correspondence shows that the Council consulted their Asset Manager regarding the value of
this land and he confirmed that the site would offer an opportunity for development and hold
a greater value with a hotel on site. However, no evidence has been provided to demonstrate
what this assessment was based on or to independently show that the secured assets, mainly
land around the Sixfields site, were sufficient in value to cover the loan finance arrangements.

The length of the loan and
its repayment are linked to
the timing of additional
revenue generated by both
clubs from the expansion,
with the principle being
any monies loaned should
be repaid in the shortest
possible time.

We understand from discussions with officers that the key driver for the length of the stadium
loan was the value being realised from the development land.

The facility agreements state that the repayment date is specified in the relevant Loan Term
Sheet for each drawdown as the loan is repaid in instalments. Review of the Loan Term Sheet
for the drawdowns includes the capital repayment dates, set at five years following drawdown
for the stadium monies. Further details are included in appendix 2. It is understood this is
linked to coincide with the wider development land appraisal and assessment of planned
return; however there is no clear evidence to substantiate this assessment.

The remaining balance of the loan was to be repaid from the additional revenues generated by
NTFC. There is no information to demonstrate that these repayment dates are linked to the
timing of additional revenue generated by the club from the expansion and that the monies
loaned are scheduled to be repaid in the shortest possible time.

The income projections
from additional revenue
generated by both clubs as
a result of expansion is
sufficient to service debt

The August 2013 Business and Financial model for the redevelopment of the Sixfields
Stadium, the only one available at the time of signing the facility agreement, includes the
repayment of interest on a £7.5m loan at an assumed interest rate of 2.5%. This is broadly in
line with the 2.58% interest rate applied to the first tranche of the loan drawdown.

19



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 18 of 32

owed to the Council, after
taking into account any
capital sums that are,
objectively, judged very
likely to become available
to the clubs in the short to
medium term.

Similarly, the June 2014 Business and Financial model for a hotel at Sixfields includes the
repayment of interest on a £4.5m loan at an assumed interest rate of 4.1%. This is broadly in
line with the 3.82% interest rate applied to the first tranche on the loan drawdown.

The Business and Financial models do not consider the repayment of the capital element of
the loan provision in their projections, despite amounts becoming due during the period
covered in the future financial forecasts. It is acknowledged that the Business and Financial
models show surpluses and it is understood that the surpluses to be used to repay any
outstanding principle loans.

Whilst the income projections are sufficient to service the interest on the debt there is no
evidence to demonstrate that the capital repayment was considered as part of the Business
and Financial models.

As identified above, there is insufficient information available to demonstrate that the Council
undertook sufficient due diligence work around the projections included in the business cases.

In the case specifically of
NTFC‟s proposed hotel
development, there are
robust contractual
arrangements in place
between NTFC and a
financially sufficient third
party concerning certainty
of minimum levels of
income for a suitable
minimum period of years.

The initial plan by NTFC, when the Cabinet report was prepared in July 2013 was for a hotel
to be built and operated by a hotel chain. We have seen no evidence to demonstrate that this
condition was specifically addressed prior to entering into an agreement to provide loan
financing to fund the development of a hotel development.

Subsequent to the facility agreements it is acknowledged that NTFC explored a number of
different options for the hotel including design, build and operate a hotel themselves; lease to
a developer to design build and operate; and work with a hotel chain. A quote was included in
the NTFC Hotel Business Plan that “the hotel will be owned by Northampton Town Football
Club. A partner will be brought in to manage and operate the hotel; this will be either an
existing hotel chain or a management company. This partner will take their return by way of
a license fee and management fee based on income”.

Since this was undertaken after the Council entered into the facility agreements, we have not
assessed this information as it relates to the Hotel development and not specifically the
provision of loan finance as defined in our scope of work.

Whilst the conditions have been complied with to some extent, we have been unable to confirm that these were complied with
fully, addressing all concerns. For these reasons, we have been unable to confirm that officers acted within their delegated
authority.

Officers decision and the financial regulations

Since the Cabinet report of July 2013 delegated responsibility to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Section 151
Officer and Leader of the Council the actions of officers in signing the facility agreement was appropriate and in line with the
financial regulations of the Council.

20



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 19 of 32

The original Cabinet report included reference to loan finance of “up to £12m”; however the subsequent facility agreements
entered into total £13.5m. Officers sought legal advice from LGSS which determined that additional Cabinet approval for the
additional £1.5m was not required and approval up to £13.5m was in line with the existing delegations since the original
decision did not specify a defined amount. For the purposes of transparency and openness it would have been good practice
to obtain further Cabinet approval for the additional monies.

The decision in principle was translated into a formal agreement, taking account to some extent the elements of the
preconditions. It would have been good practice to formally assess compliance with the defined conditions and share an
updated, detailed plan prior to signing the facility agreements. Although the legal advice sought did not indicate additional
approval was required for £13.5m it would have been good practice to revisit.

Appropriate professional
advice has been obtained in
producing the agreement

Capita Asset Services prepared a report on the loan to NTFC. In their disclaimer, Capita state that they were not instructed
to complete any work on due diligence on the proposed loan.

The Council’s virtual data room contains a significant number of emails from numerous individuals involved in preparing the
facility agreements, including:

 Chief Financial Officer
 Principal lawyer for property, planning and highways; LGSS legal
 Legal contracts and procurement advisor, LGSS Legal
 Corporate Asset Manager

In addition there are emails from the following individuals:

 Monitoring Officer
 Leader of the Council
 Chief Executive
 Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning

Review of the email correspondence shows that there were ongoing internal discussions about financial, legal and statutory
duties in preparing for the facility agreements with due regard to the need to protect taxpayers’ money. Numerous email
correspondence makes reference to the associated time constraints and pressure from management, members and the
involved external parties in needing to progress the loan as soon as possible. It is evident that changes were still being made
to the facility agreements right up until the time of formally signing the agreements and a number of emails reference having
insufficient time to resolve all matters. This highlights that whilst appropriate professional advice was sought there was
insufficient time available to ensure that all matters identified were adequately addressed and resolved before signing the
agreements.

It is unclear why there was such time pressure and why officers were challenged to meet the specific deadlines associated with
the Facility Agreements. Email correspondence makes reference to the associated time constraints and pressure from
management, members and the involved external parties in needing to progress the loan as soon as possible. It is evident that
the time pressures significantly reduced the Council’s ability to challenge and evaluate the professional advice it had obtained
from the legal team and Corporate Asset Manager as part of the preparation for the Football Club loan.

21



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 20 of 32

Email correspondence between the leader and officers highlights the importance of the transaction and the desire to conclude
the transaction promptly. The political commitment in the Conservative manifesto, along with the July 2013 Cabinet decision
was considered a commitment to provide loan financing, despite there being limited information available at this time.
Detailed business cases, due diligence checks and professional advice were not taken until after the Cabinet approval was
obtained. Whilst due diligence checks were undertaken we were unable to identify evidence that the issues identified were
adequately resolved before the transaction was completed.

Whilst the email correspondence demonstrates the involvement of appropriate professionals in producing and monitoring
the agreement the fact that the Council has taken months to identify and collate a series of thousands of emails to demonstrate
the adequacy of the professional advice highlights that the arrangements were informal and did not follow a strict procedural
process. In amongst the thousands of emails, handwritten notes and reports summarising meetings numerous questions and
queries were raised. It is not possible to track and ensure that every single concern was adequately addressed and resolved
when preparing the facility agreements. The Council, in trying to identify the process which was followed and understand
what actions were taken have identified that there is no formal, complete, record of all actions undertaken.

There was a significant volume of email correspondence between senior officers throughout the period to demonstrate
professional advice was sought. However, the advice has been obtained in a time pressured manner and it is difficult to
determine if all queries were adequately resolved prior to entering into any loan agreement. Going forwards, NBC should
formalise their decision making process and ensure there is adequate evidence retained to demonstrate compliance with
the established process.

Governance
Adequate governance
arrangements were
established to oversee the
agreement

We understand that there was a project group, chaired by the Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning, established
to oversee the redevelopment of the Sixfields site and responsible for ongoing governance and project management. Following
discussion with the Council in August 2016, we were subsequently provided with minutes from the Programme Board
meetings and Project Highlight reports which demonstrate that there was oversight and governance in place regarding the
redevelopment of the wider Sixfields regeneration project. However, these are focused on the operational aspects of the
programme and do not separately identify performance of the loan agreement. Since this information is focused on the
operational aspects of the programme, which are outside our scope of work, we have not assessed the effectiveness of these
governance arrangements.

We have been unable to identify evidence to demonstrate that this group met regularly and sufficiently monitored the
governance arrangements in place specifically regarding the Football Club loan. As noted above, we have identified ongoing
communication, involving suitable individuals in reviewing the ongoing arrangements and performance against the facility
agreement. However, we have concerns in relation to the nature of these arrangements and lack of formal records to
demonstrate adequate governance arrangements were in place which separately identify the loan agreement and adequately
demonstrate oversight for this particular element of the Sixfields programme.

Governance for the ongoing arrangements in relation to the facility agreement was retained by the officers, with some
involvement from the Leader of the Council. However, there was limited reporting to members. After the initial approval from

22



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 21 of 32

Cabinet in July 2013 there was no explicit reporting to members until November 2015 after NTFC had failed to repay monies
requested. Given the values involved and delegation of responsibility this is not unusual, but when concerns regarding NTFC’s
ability to repay were identified this should have been reported to members on a timely basis.

From the date of signing the first facility agreement in September 2013 until the first delayed interest payment in February
2015 there were no explicit causes for concern or activities which required the involvement of the Council. In August 2014 a
variation to the original planning permission was registered which identified that the East Stand would no longer include a
conference and banqueting facility and there would be a reduction to the proposed increased capacity. This planning
application was approved in September 2014. Despite the changes to the planned construction works we have not seen any
evidence to indicate that the construction changes were reflected in the structure of the loan and there is no alignment between
the final loan drawdown in August and the revised planned construction works. There were ongoing discussions regarding
other aspects of the Sixfields development but the performance against loan finance was as expected. The benefit of hindsight
identifies potential areas where the Council, both officers and members, should have sought to be more involved in monitoring
the loan agreement.

Whilst there is evidence to demonstrate wider governance around the Sixfields redevelopment this is very operational
focused and does not separately identify performance of the loan agreement. There was a significant volume of email
correspondence between senior officers throughout the period regarding the loan agreement to demonstrate ongoing
governance. However, the professional advice has been obtained in a time pressured manner and it is difficult to determine
if all queries were adequately resolved prior to entering into any loan agreement. Going forwards, NBC should formalise
their governance arrangements and ensure there is adequate evidence retained to demonstrate compliance with the
established process.

Risk management
Formal risk assessment was
undertaken as part of the
decision making process.
Risks were identified,
assessed and appropriate
mitigations put in place to
manage identified risks

The NBC Constitution states that the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for collating the Council’s Strategic Risk Register
and ensuring it is reported to Cabinet and the Audit Committee at least annually. In addition, the Chief Officers should
maintain a register of risks affecting their service areas, including corporate risks. It is their responsibility to make sure that
this is kept up to date. Discussions with officers indicates that a risk assessment was undertaken as part of the decision making
process and that risks were identified and mitigated as part of the Sixfields land development project. The Sixfields
Programme Board meetings and discussion of the Project Highlight Report included consideration of the risks associated
with the wider site redevelopment. However, we have been unable to identify any documentation which evidences that a
formal risk assessment was undertaken specifically in relation to the provision of loan finance as part of the decision making
progress. Furthermore, we have not been able to locate any evidence which demonstrates that the provision of loan finance
and its associated risks were considered as part of the strategic or service area risk registers.

As part of its Treasury Management Strategy the Council sets out the broad risks facing the Council relating to Treasury
Management arrangements and how these will be mitigated. Whilst this is accurate, there is no specific consideration of the
Football Club loan agreement in sufficient detail to identify and address specific risks. The Council has since updated its
Treasury Management procedures to address this going forward including a specific provision for loans to third parties and

Risks associated with
agreement were reviewed on
a regular basis and
necessary actions
undertaken to protect the
Council’s interests

23



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 22 of 32

commitment that the Council’s Treasury Strategy incorporates the limits and permissions required to allow future borrowing
to go ahead.

As indicated above, whilst there is evidence to demonstrate ongoing challenge, identification and resolution of risks as part
of the ongoing email correspondence, this was not undertaken on a formal basis and the mass of emails make it difficult to
identify whether sufficient actions were taken to identify and mitigate risks.

Since there was no formal documentation in relation to the risk assessment it was not possible for the Council to review and
update on a regular basis, in breach of the conditions defined in the Constitution.

There was an informal risk assessment and monitoring undertaken as part of the significant volume of correspondence
with senior officers throughout the period; however, there is no evidence available to demonstrate that a formal risk
assessment relating specifically to the loan agreement was undertaken, monitored and updated throughout the period.
Going forwards, NBC should formalise their risk management arrangements and ensure there is adequate evidence
retained to demonstrate compliance with the established process.

Performance management
Arrangements were
established to monitor and
manage performance of the
agreement

Whilst there was ongoing involvement of the Council following the establishment of the facility agreement this extended to a
number of other areas, including arrangements with the HCA and wider developments in the area, therefore did not directly
relate to the performance management of the facility agreements. Once again, the performance management activities focused
on the wider Sixfields redevelopment through the project team meetings and there is no explicit consideration of the loan
agreement in place.

The benefit of hindsight identifies potential areas where the Council, both officers and members, should have sought to be
more involved in the programme and monitor the ongoing status of the redevelopment. Although the terms and conditions
of the facility agreements were being adhered to it should have been clear that the physical progress of the Sixfields
redevelopment did not align with the amount of money drawn down. This is something which the Council could have
identified had there been greater performance management, including site visits at the Sixfields Stadium. It is understood
that informal site visits did take place by staff driving past the site and visits to the stadium however since the basis of the
contract was not a works based contract the Council was limited in the action it could take. In spite of this there appears to
have been no obvious correlation between works progress identified and the loan monies permitted for draw downs.

There were no formal performance management processes established to oversee the facility agreements. However, the
documentation provided to NTFC as part of each tranche drawdown associated with each facility agreement was accompanied
by a Loan Term Sheet and Repayment Schedule detailing when interest payments were due. Performance against these
repayment dates was monitored by the LGSS Finance team and we have seen email correspondence between the Council and
NTFC in following up late payments immediately and trying to reach a resolution to secure repayment from NTFC. In
addition, we have seen annotated copies of the different models which demonstrate that Council employees, including the
Chief Financial Officer, reviewed the business models prepared by NTFC and challenged a number of the figures included
which prompted updates and amendments to the business cases.

24



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 23 of 32

Performance against the repayment schedule is detailed in appendix 1.

There was a significant volume of email correspondence between senior officers throughout the period; however, there is
no evidence to demonstrate that there was a formal process and defined approach to performance management. Going
forwards, NBC should formalise their performance management arrangements and ensure there is adequate evidence
retained to demonstrate compliance with the established process. Compliance with the Loan Terms and Repayment
Schedule was monitored and delays in payment addressed by finance in a timely manner.

Management information
Format and content of
management information is
adequate for effective
governance and
performance management

There was no formal management information process defined in relation to performance of the facility agreements. As
identified above, the evidence of LGSS Finance escalating overdue payments and following up with NTFC does indicate some
element of management information was received even though there was no formal defined process in place for this.

From the information reviewed it is apparent that once the facility agreements had been formalised and provision of loan
finance secured the Council focused on areas of the wider Sixfields development, including arrangements with the HCA and
these areas were the subsequent focus of governance, performance management and management information.

Financial controls
The agreement contains
adequate information to
ensure that all parties
understand the financial
obligations and payment
mechanisms

Drawdown

Each of the three agreements contained different conditions and prerequisites for the drawdown of funds. These have been
reviewed and assessed to ensure conditions were met:

For the 18 September 2013 Facility Agreement (£7.5m) the conditions were:

1) 20% immediately
a) Drawdown made 20/9/13, two days after the signing of the Facility Agreement therefore considered appropriate to

request and make drawdown
2) 20% upon planning approval for redevelopment and improvements to Sixfields Stadium

a) Drawdown made 2/12/13, planning application N/2013/1048 approved 26/11/13 at the Planning Committee
therefore considered appropriate to request and make drawdown

3) 20% upon completion of contract and commencement of works onsite
a) Drawdown made 28/2/14, James Whiting email of 25/2/14 states works have started and attached signed pages of

contract with contractors, email states contract signed 21/2/15. In line with terms of facility agreement therefore
appropriate to request and make drawdown

4) 20% 2 months after commencement on site work (no earlier than end of April 2014).

25



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 24 of 32

a) Drawdown made 12/5/14, as above work started on site as confirmed by James Whiting on 25/2/14 – confirmed
payment made two months after commencement of work therefore in line with terms of facility agreement therefore
appropriate to request and make drawdown

5) 20% upon formal Safety Advisory group sign off (not earlier than end of June 2014)
a) Terms changed by deed of variation to be “20% of the loan is taken as an advance when the Chief Executive of the

Lender is satisfied that there are adequate arrangements in place to ensure that the final design and implementation
of the scheme for the purposes herein described will comply with safety regulations and related building control
requirements such advance will not be taken before end of June 2014.”

b) Drawdown made 19/8/14, email 23/7/14 from James Whiting stating SAG sign off last week therefore drawdown
requested included certificate licence to admit spectators to watch designated football matches signed and dated July
2014. Email David Kennedy 14/8/14 confirming satisfied, further email from David Kennedy 15/8/14 confirming
already confirmed satisfaction of requirements therefore process request. In line with terms of the Deed of Variation
therefore appropriate to request drawdown.

For the 14 April 2014 Facility Agreement (£1.5m) the conditions were:

1) One immediate advance
a) Drawdown made 17/4/14, three days after the signing of the Facility Agreement therefore considered appropriate to

request and make drawdown

For the 23 July 2014 Facility Agreement (£4.5m) the conditions were:

1) 1.25m immediately
a) Drawdown made 23/7/14, same day as the signing of the Facility Agreement therefore considered appropriate to

request and make drawdown
2) 1.75m planning approval of hotel accommodation

a) Drawdown not made
3) 1.20m upon receipt of surveyor report confirming works are 2/3 complete (not earlier than May 2015)

a) Drawdown not made
4) 0.3m receipt of practical completion certificate

a) Drawdown not made

In all instances the precondition for the drawdown of the loan was satisfied and funds were released in the line with the
Constitution following Chief Financial Officer approval. After all drawdowns, information was communicated to NTFC to
confirm terms, conditions and ongoing repayment schedule.

Whilst the drawdowns were made in compliance with the terms specified in the relevant Facility Agreement it should have
been apparent that the physical progress of the stadium development was not advancing at the rate expected. In spite of this
the Council continued to permit drawdowns on the loan agreement since the Football Club were in compliance with the

26



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 25 of 32

Facility Agreement terms. This indicates that the terms were not robust enough to challenge physical progress and meant the
Council continued to provide ongoing financial support even though there were some early indications of potential problems.
It is understood that the conditions used as the basis for drawdowns were the result of commercial negotiations. The Council’s
starting point was to be able to pay after the stadium expansion had been completed; however the football club wanted all the
money up front. Without the money up front the football club were unwilling to invest in the development of the land and a
result the Council took a view that the money should be provided. The terms for tranche drawdowns was achieved through
negotiations during August and September 2013 and resulted in the terms incorporated into the loan document.

In August 2014 a variation to the original planning permission was registered which identified that the East Stand would no
longer include a conference and banqueting facility and there would be a reduction to the proposed increased capacity. This
planning application was approved in September 2014. Despite the changes to the planned construction works we have not
seen any evidence to indicate that the construction changes were reflected in the structure of the loan and there is no
alignment between the final loan drawdown in August and the revised planned construction works.

Repayment

Details of the payments received have been included in appendix 1. We have confirmed that each of the planned payment due
dates recorded is in line with the issued Loan and Repayment Schedule. As noted above, performance against the scheduled
repayment dates was monitored by the LGSS Finance team and we have seen email correspondence between the Council and
NTFC in following up late payments immediately and trying to reach a resolution to secure repayment from NTFC.

Tranche drawdowns were made in accordance with the preconditions defined in the loan facility agreements and in line
with the Council’s Constitution and financial regulations. However, it is unclear why the drawdown preconditions were
originally considered suitable, especially since the conditions failed to identify delays in physical progress and drawdowns
continued. Going forward, the suitability and adequacy of tranche drawdown terms and conditions should be given greater
consideration.

Any financial exposure is
identified and reported at an
early stage in order to
protect the Council’s
interests

The details recorded in appendix 1 include information about the ongoing compliance with the repayment schedule.
Drawdowns of the loan finance were undertaken between 20 September 2013 and 19 August 2014. Wider issues around the
NTFC contractor’s administration and cessation of works on site did not occur until March 2015, therefore at the time of
making the facility agreement drawdowns there was no indication of future concerns. The first delayed interest repayment
occurred on the 19 February 2015 and the first repayment which was not made was not due until 28 August 2015; again after
all drawdowns had already been made.

Following Cabinet’s approval of the decision in principle to provide loan finance in July 2013 the subject matter round loan
finance explicitly was not further considered until 2nd November 2015. The Democratic Services team did not prepare any
updates around progress of the development or updates on loan drawdowns in between these two dates. This resulted in a
significant delay in raising issues with members.

In response to NTFC’s failure to make the scheduled interest repayment on 28 August 2015, the Council issued a notice to
NTFC on 24 September 2015 requesting that all monies be repaid under the terms of the facility agreements. The Council
officers maintained ongoing communication with the Football Club and continued trying to receive repayment of monies
owed. An extraordinary Council meeting was called on the 2 November 2015 and a resolution passed which states that:

27



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 26 of 32

“This Council notes that Northampton Town Football Club owes this local authority £10.25 million and as yet has not repaid the
debt. The club has missed three repayment deadlines and has been asked for the full amount to be repaid. This has not been
forthcoming.

This Council further notes that HMRC has issued a winding up petition against Northampton Town Football Club for unpaid
taxes. This case will be heard in the High Court in London on November 16th 2015.

This Council resolves to:

1. Do whatever we can to help Northampton Town Football Club and the Supporters’ Trust.

2. Retrieve the £10.25 million of public money.

3. Ask Audit committee to review our policies and procedures and make recommendations necessary for implementation in
business arrangements of this nature. The Audit Committee would then present any recommendations to Full Council.”

Compliance with the Loan Terms and Repayment Schedule was monitored and delays in payment addressed by finance in
a timely manner. However, there was a significant delay before problems were escalated to Members. Going forward, the
escalation process should be formalised to ensure that members are adequately informed about significant changes.

Project management
Arrangements were
established to project
manage the agreement and
financial arrangements

Officers indicated that regular project management meetings were held to provide an update on progress and enabled officers
to mitigate any risks which were identified throughout the project. Following discussion with the Council in August 2016, we
were subsequently provided with minutes from the Programme Board meetings and Project Highlight reports which
demonstrate that there was oversight and governance in place regarding the redevelopment of the wider Sixfields regeneration
project. However, these are focused on the operational aspects of the programme and do not separately identify performance
of the loan agreement

As previously identified there are a number of emails between all involved parties throughout the duration of the arrangement
which demonstrates clearly there was ongoing involvement and interaction with all invested parties. Whilst the email
correspondence demonstrates the involvement of appropriate professionals in producing and monitoring the agreement the
fact that the Council has taken months to identify and collate a series of thousands of emails to demonstrate the adequacy of
the professional advice highlights that the arrangements were informal and did not follow a strict procedural process.

There was a significant volume of email correspondence between senior officers throughout the period; however, there is
no evidence to demonstrate that there was a formal approach to project management. Going forwards, NBC should
formalise their project management arrangements and ensure there is adequate evidence retained to demonstrate
compliance with the established process.

Regular reviews were
undertaken of the project
management arrangements
to ensure that the Council’s
interests were protected and
any risks mitigated.

28



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 27 of 32

Lessons learnt
Priority Topic Observation Recommendation

Medium Business case
timing

The first detailed business and financial model in relation to the redevelopment of the
Football Stadium was produced in August 2013, one month following Cabinet
members’ approval of the decision to make loan finance available to the Football Club.

Before any key decision is taken
there should be an adequate
business and financial model
produced.

Medium Business case
ownership

The business and financial models were developed by NTFC and subsequently
evaluated by the Council. For a transaction of this nature we would have expected the
Council to develop their own business case.

Ensure the Council produces their
own business case for all significant
transactions

Low Business case
versions

NTFC developed a number of separate business and financial models for each of the
respective schemes and each version was updated to reflect the latest circumstances
rather than having one final document accurate at the point at which it was approved.

When preparing a business case
there should be one final document
to support the approved decision.

High Due diligence Internal and external reports were prepared indicating that the figures included in
NTFC’s business case needed to be objectively assessed. We have not seen any
evidence to demonstrate that this process was undertaken.

Where due diligence checks have been undertaken we have not seen any evidence to
demonstrate issues identified were adequately considered and resolved.

Whilst there is evidence to demonstrate that there was consultation with appropriate
professional advisers this was on an ad hoc basis and there is no evidence to
demonstrate the resolution of all the issues and concerns raised.

Adequate, independent from the
decision making process, due
diligence should be undertaken on
all information provided to the
Council with sufficient time to
enable the resolution of any
matters identified.

Medium Information
used as the
basis of
member
decisions

The members’ approval to provide loan financing to NTFC in July 2013 was based on
a minimal amount of information. Whilst the decision delegated responsibility to
officers and included a number of conditions it would have been better to provide
members with more information upon which to base their decision

Before any key decision is taken
there should be adequate
information provided to members.

Low Additional
Cabinet
approval

It has been identified that the original Cabinet report included reference for loan
finance of “up to £12m”; however the subsequent facility agreements entered into
total £13.5m. Although legal advice indicated additional approval was not required,
good practice would have been to obtain further Cabinet approval.

Where there are significant
developments to programmes since
Cabinet approval these should be
shared with Cabinet to ensure
transparency

Medium Review of
conditions

There is no record of the Council having undertaken a formal assessment against the
Cabinet conditions before having entered into the facility agreements to ensure
compliance with the specific terms. It would have been good practice to share an
updated paper before entering into the facility agreements with details of the final
arrangements.

Where there are significant
developments to programmes since
Cabinet approval these should be
shared with Cabinet to ensure
transparency

29



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 28 of 32

High Risk register The NBC Constitution states that the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for collating
the Council’s Strategic Risk Register and ensuring it is reported to Cabinet and the
Audit Committee at least annually. There is no formal documentation in relation to
the risk assessment so it was not possible for the Council to review and update on a
regular basis, in breach of the conditions defined in the Constitution.

Ensure all projects have a formally
documented risk assessment which
is reviewed and updated on a
regular basis.

Medium Agreement
conditions

Whilst the drawdowns were made in compliance with the terms specified in the
relevant Facility Agreement, it should have been apparent that the physical progress
of the stadium development was not advancing at the rate expected. In spite of this
the Council continued to permit drawdowns on the loan agreement since the Football
Club were in compliance with the Facility Agreement terms. This indicates that the
terms were not robust enough to challenge physical progress and meant the Council
continued to provide ongoing financial support even though there were some early
indications of potential problems.

Ensure terms and conditions are
robust enough to challenge and
provide assurance regarding the
status of project development.

High Formalisation
of processes
and
procedures

Whilst the email correspondence demonstrates the involvement of appropriate
professionals in producing and monitoring the agreement the fact there are thousands
of emails which has taken the Council months to collate indicates that there was no
established process in place at the time. In amongst the thousands of emails,
handwritten notes and reports summarising meetings numerous questions and
queries were raised. It is not possible to track and ensure that every single concern
was adequately addressed and resolved when preparing the facility agreements. The
Council, in trying to identify the process which was followed and understand what
actions were taken have identified that there is no formal, complete, record of all
actions undertaken.

There should be adherence to the
formal process for all projects
ensuring there is adequate formal
evidence to demonstrate ongoing
governance, project management
and performance management
associated with the project.

Medium Performance
reporting

Following the July 2013 Cabinet approval there are brief references to the loan
agreements in the Treasury Management reports, however this is very limited and
does not provide adequate governance for the arrangements in place. A detailed
report was presented on the 11th November 2015 to update Cabinet on progress
towards resolving the position with regards to loans outstanding to NTFC.

Regular updates on significant
projects should be communicated
to members to ensure they are
sufficiently informed, especially
when there are issues identified.

30



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 29 of 32

Appendix 1. Repayment Schedule

Loan
Amount

Tranche Payment
Due Date

Interest
Payment £

Principal
Repayment

£

Total
Payment

due on this
Date

£

Payment
Value

Received
from NTFC

£

Date
Payment
Received

from NTFC

Slippage
(no. of Days)

1,500,000 Tranche 1 20 March
2014

19,350.00 - 19,350.00 19,350.00 20 March
2014

-

1,500,000 Tranche 2 02 June 2014 18,000.00 - 18,000.00 18,000.00 03 June 2014 1

1,500,000 Tranche 3 28 August
2014

19,425.00 - 19,425.00 19,425.00 29 August
2014

1

1,500,000 Tranche 1 20 September
2014

19,350.00 - 19,350.00 19,350.00 22 September
2014

2

1,500,000 Facility
Agreement 2

17 October
2014

19,050.00 - 19,050.00 19,050.00 17 October
2014

-

1,500,000 Tranche 4 12 November
2014

20,100.00 - 20,100.00 20,100.00 12 November
2014

-

1,500,000 Tranche 2 02 December
2014

18,000.00 - 18,000.00 18,000.00 02 December
2014

-

1,250,000 Hotel Facility
Agreement
Tranche 1

23 January
2015

23,875.00 15,155.14 39,030.14 39,030.14 23 January
2015

-

1,500,000 Tranche 5 19 February
2015

19,350.00 - 19,350.00 19,350.00 25 February
2015

6

31



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 30 of 32

1,500,000 Tranche 3 28 February
2015

19,425.00 - 19,425.00 19,425.00 02 March
2015

2

1,500,000 Tranche 1 20 March
2015

19,350.00 - 19,350.00 19,350.00 23 March 2015 3

1,500,000 Facility
Agreement 2

17 April 2015 19,050.00 - 19,050.00 19,050.00 17 April 2015 -

1,500,000 Tranche 4 12 May 2015 20,100.00 - 20,100.00 20,100.00 22 May 2015 10

1,500,000 Tranche 2 02 June 2015 18,000.00 - 18,000.00 18,000.00 11 June 2015 9

1,250,000 Hotel Facility
Agreement
Tranche 1

23 July 2015 23,585.54 15,444.60 39,030.14 39,030.14 18 August
2015

26

1,500,000 Tranche 5 19 August
2015

19,350.00 - 19,350.00 19,350.00 04 September
2015

16

1,500,000 Tranche 3 28 August
2015

19,425.00 - 19,425.00 Repayment not made

1,500,000 Tranche 1 20 September
2015

19,350.00 - 19,350.00 Repayment not made

1,500,000 Facility
Agreement 2

17 October
2015

19,050.00 - 19,050.00 Repayment not made

32



Northampton Borough Council

PwC Page 31 of 32

Appendix 2. Capital repayment dates

* The conditions for the later drawdowns of the facility agreements were not satisfied therefore the Council has only provided loan finance for a total
of £10.25m compared with the facility agreement total of £13.5m.

Loan Tranche Date Loan Value Capital to be repaid

Stadium Tranche 1 20/09/2013 £1,500,000 20/09/2018

Stadium Tranche 2 02/12/2013 £1,500,000 02/12/2018

Stadium Tranche 3 28/02/2014 £1,500,000 28/02/2019

Additional
stadium

Facility
Agreement 2

17/04/2014 £1,500,000 17/04/2019

Stadium Tranche 4 12/05/2014 £1,500,000 12/05/2019

Hotel Hotel Facility
Agreement
Tranche 1

23/07/2014 £1,250,000 23/07/2039

Stadium Tranche 5 19/08/2014 £1,500,000 19/08/2019

£10,250,000*

33



This document has been prepared only for Northampton Borough Council and solely for the purpose and on the terms agreed with them in
our agreement dated 19 May 2016. We accept no liability (including for negligence) to anyone else in connection with this document, and it
may not be provided to anyone else.

In the event that, pursuant to a request which Northampton Borough Council has received under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 or
the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (as the same may be amended or re-enacted from time to time) or any subordinate
legislation made thereunder (collectively, the “Legislation”), Northampton Borough Council is required to disclose any information
contained in this document, it will notify PwC promptly and will consult with PwC prior to disclosing such document. Northampton
Borough Council agrees to pay due regard to any representations which PwC may make in connection with such disclosure and to apply any
relevant exemptions which may exist under the Legislation to such report. If, following consultation with PwC, Northampton Borough
Council discloses any this document or any part thereof, it shall ensure that any disclaimer which PwC has included or may subsequently
wish to include in the information is reproduced in full in any copies disclosed.

© 2016 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. All rights reserved. In this document, "PwC" refers to the UK member firm, and may sometimes refer
to the PwC network. Each member firm is a separate legal entity. Please see www.pwc.com/structure for further details.

34



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC 
 

 
Audit Committee Meeting Date 
 
Policy Document: 

 
 

Report of: 
 
 

 
Accountable Cabinet Member:  
 

  
5th December 2016 
 
No 
 
Chief Executive, Borough Secretary, 
Chief Finance Officer 
 
Leader of the Council 
 

 
 

1.  Purpose 

 
1.1  To outline the Governance improvements the Council has already 

 implemented, and is planning to implement through a Governance Action 
 Plan, to address the specific issues raised in the Internal Audit report on loans 
 to Northampton Town Football Club commissioned by this Committee, and 
 broader governance and financial management issues identified by officers 
 and external audit. 

 
2.  Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee note that all 11 recommendations in the PwC report are 

accepted by officers and will be implemented and enforced with immediate 
effect. 

 
2.2 That the Committee note that officers are totally committed to acting to ensure 

that a situation like this cannot be allowed to happen again. 
 
2.3 That the Committee make comment on the Governance Action Plan to inform 

further work on its development and implementation. 
 
2.4 That the Committee should receive update reports on the implementation of 

the Governance Action Plan from the Chief Executive, Borough Secretary and 
Chief Finance Officer at every future meeting until it determines otherwise. 

Report Title Governance Action Plan 

Appendices 
 

2 

35

Agenda Item 6



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

3.  Issues and Choices 

 
3.1 Report Background 
 
3.1.1 In the course of 2015/16 Northampton Town Football Club Limited defaulted 

on loans made to them by the Council in 2013 and 2014. In light of this, the 
Audit Committee asked Internal Audit to conduct a review into the provision of 
loan finance to Northampton Town Football Club. The review focus was to 
provide the Audit Committee with an assessment as to whether the relevant 
Council policies and procedures to support the loan finance were adequate 
and whether the policies were followed in these transactions. 

 
3.1.2  The Internal Audit report following this review is on the agenda of this meeting 

of the Audit Committee. The findings of the Internal Audit review are fully 
acknowledged and accepted by officers.  

 
3.1.3 Since problems with delivering the development that was funded by these 

loans came to light and the subsequent defaults by Northampton Town FC, 
officers have taken action to  

 

 ensure that no transfer of assets took place under the conditional land 
transfer agreement as the necessary conditions were not met,  

 

 seek to recover value for the Council over time from the development land 
 

 seek to recover funds from those responsible for the default of the loan 
 

 seek to identify weaknesses and take action to remedy these 
 

 respond to the requirements of the reviews currently underway by Internal 
Audit and External Audit 

 
 
3.1.4 Officers have also worked closely with the Police and formally complained 

about the actions of other parties involved in the disbursement of loan funds 
once loaned by the Council  

 
3.1.5 A key focus for officers and indeed the whole Council is to apply clear learning 

from the whole of this situation and specifically at this stage in relation to the 
Internal Audit report. Other primary contributions to the Governance Action 
Plan have been the ISA 260 from External Audit which gave an adverse value 
for money assessment, internal review by officers, and professional advice 
taken by officers and members on good practice in relation to governance and 
internal processes.  Every avenue has been explored in this work.  

 
3.1.6 The absolute priority moving forwards is to improve the main areas of 

governance and delivery and to provide assurance to the Audit Committee and 
Council that policies and practices are in place and implemented in a way that 
protect the public interest. In order to ensure that this is subject to ongoing 
scrutiny and review it is proposed that this Committee receives reports on 
progress at every meeting from the Statutory Officers (Chief Executive, 
Borough Secretary, and Chief Finance Officer). The Action Plan also includes 

36



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

that progress in improving the governance position of the Council be reviewed 
against the CIPFA/Solace Corporate Governance Standard after the initial 
phases of implementation of the Plan, in mid-2017 

 
3.1.7 This report outlines the actions already implemented, the ones that are 
 ongoing and the ones to be implemented as soon as possible. 
 

 3.1.8  Attached at Appendix 1 is the Governance Action Plan outlining the key 
 actions in each area of focus. These areas are further explained and 
 illuminated below after an initial overview of the Action Plan 

 
3.2 Overview of the Governance Action Plan 

3.2.1 The Governance Action Plan is a fundamental document for the Council. It 
seeks to get to the core of how the governance arrangements and processes 
of the Council must work and the arrangements that need to be in place, or 
need to be reinforced, to ensure that proper and effective governance 
happens in practice on a par of importance with the Budget Book or the 
Constitution all the time. 

3.2.2 Key to the success of the Governance Action Plan will be: 

 Revised governance structures for the Council to enhance deliberation 
and assessment of all recommendations, decisions, programmes and 
projects before approval, during implementation and on completion. 

 Renewed and greatly enhanced focus on compliance with policies, 
procedures and best practice in all aspects of governance, backed by 
enhanced central capacity to provide support, training, development 
and enforcement to ensure compliance 

 Enhancements to the role of the Audit Committee in overseeing 
compliance with policies, procedures, and agreed audit 
recommendations within the Council  

3.2.3 Implementation of this Plan will be overseen by this Committee, by the Leader 
of the Council, the Chief Executive and the Statutory Officers, by 
Management Board and the Governance and Support Programme Board led 
by the Borough Secretary. 

3.2.4 The following are the key action areas in the Governance Action Plan. 

3.3 Corporate Governance - Project and Programme Management 

3.3.1 Comprehensive Corporate Project and Programme management 
arrangements are and have been in place for some time. However it is 
acknowledged that the system did not work in relation to the NTFC loan 
transactions.  

 
3.3.2 Having reviewed the matter with advice on best practice, Management Board 

will adopt a more robust Corporate Governance framework for executive 
decision making and for developing, implementing and reviewing decisions, 
programmes and projects. The core to this framework will be clear standards, 

37



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

reporting requirements and accountabilities, structured senior leadership, and 
tight control over procedural and policy compliance. All programmes and 
projects being undertaken by the Council will fall within one of the 3 identified 
streams led by a Management Board officer. The framework is attached at 
Appendix 2 of this report. 

 
3.3.3 In order to strengthen corporate standards and compliance, it has been 

agreed that all relevant projects will go through a “gateway” process which 
will categorise and apply rigorous but proportionate methodologies and 
documentation to structure and support relevant transactions. There will be a 
requirement for a Project Initiation Document (PID), minuted project 
/programme meetings and a full risk assessment. Programmes/projects will 
be required to be maintained on central paper records, with clear 
documented minutes of meetings and professional advice received. Each 
project/programme will require the completion of a declaration of interests 
form by each participant. 

 
3.3.4 A corporate programme of training and development of officers to ensure that 

officers all understand their responsibilities, have the necessary skills and 
abilities to do so, will be implemented. After the initial phases of this 
programme no officer will be allowed to perform any key role in a project or 
programme without having demonstrated that they understand and can use 
and comply with the necessary policies and procedures. 

 
3.3.5 To achieve this much higher standard of project and programme governance, 

the Council needs much stronger central capacity to help drive the changes, 
establish and assure compliance standards, support training, development 
and assessment, and administer the additional workloads. The following 
dedicated posts will be established:  

 

 Corporate Governance and Risk Manager. This post will be the key 
person to support the Governance and Support Programme Board and 
Management Board in implementing necessary changes in governance, 
and will lead on implementing new standards of programme and project 
management, risk management, and on ensuring compliance and skills 
and capacity development. This post will address the issues identified by 
the External Audit ISA 260 report, the PwC report on Governance and 
Risk and related issues identified. The job role and structure is in the 
process of receiving input from external experts. The seniority of the post 
will reflect the importance the Council places on this role. 

 

 Programme/Project Manager. This role will support and provide 
corporate co-ordination to the programme and project management across 
the Council and work with those responsible for the administration and 
control of each project. Guided by the Governance and Support Board, the 
post holder will develop and ensure implementation and compliance with 
corporate standards. NBC currently receives project support from LGSS 
but this arrangement is currently being terminated by mutual agreement to 
enable the Council to take a new and re-energised approach. 

 

 Project Support Officer.  This will be a new post and will support the 
administrative requirements from the additional work. 

38



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

3.3.6 Enhanced project and programme management will also require additional, 
or redirected, support capacity within services responsible for programmes 
and projects. Each department’s capacity will be reviewed as part of the first 
stages of implementing the Action Plan. 

 
3.4 Due Diligence (including loans to third parties) 
 
3.4.1 The External Auditor’s ISA 260 report identifies the need for systematic, 

robust and objective processes for assessing and documenting due diligence 
procedures in relation to loan finance. Lack of structure around the due 
diligence process has also been identified as a key factor in the Internal Audit 
report on the loan to Sixfields. The Council fully accepts the advice of both 
the external and internal auditors. 

 
3.4.2 Officers have put a hold on the issuing of any loans pending a review of due 

diligence processes. Any loan finance application will only be allowed to 
continue if the Chief Executive, Borough Secretary and Chief Finance Officer 
are each are satisfied that full due diligence has been conducted, has been 
evidenced and is compliant with guidance from our internal and external 
auditors. Independent professional advice will be taken in advance of any loan 
decision to support forming the judgement as to whether due diligence has 
been adequately carried out. 

 
3.4.3 In addition to the above the following actions have been taken: 
 

 Loans: 
 

 A summary of existing loans and key documentation have been compiled and 
centralised in one place. 
 

 An extensive loans compliance checklist has been developed, and  reviewed 
by the Council’s banker Barclays. The use of the checklist is  mandatory. 

         

 A due diligence and compliance manual is in the process of being prepared 
and will cover broader due diligence issues including loans and will be 
implemented shortly. The manual will raise key due diligence issues requiring 
consideration including the requirement for Cabinet decisions to be informed 
by fully informed business cases, and external advice. The toolkit will also 
provide support to the need for implementation decisions to be given the time 
needed to protect the Council and the public interest. The broader governance 
changes outlined earlier in this report will support a separation of roles from 
those driving the project to those reviewing actions. 

 
 Financial Governance: 

 
 The Purchase Order process has been reviewed and the process improved, 

which has led to compliance increasing in this area but there is clearly more to 
do to meet the expressed audit concern in full. 
 

 The reserves drawdown process has been reviewed, improved and is 
 operational. This includes reporting all reserves drawdowns in corporate 

39



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

financial monitoring reports to Management Board and Cabinet, where they 
are on the public agenda. 
 

 Better controls over supplementary estimates have been put in place and 
tighter approval rules established and implemented. 
 

 Renewed and refreshed financial awareness training reflecting the issues 
which have been raised in audit reports is being developed prior to being 
rolled out to all staff. In future, as with programme and project management, 
officers will not be able to make use of any delegations under financial or 
contract standing orders without having first completed the relevant training 
and having evidenced their learning, 
 

 Specialist financial training is being developed and will be targeted at 
 those staff involved in specific aspects of financial management (including in 
particular the production of business cases and plans)  

 
ISA260 Recommendations: 

 
 An action plan has been developed by officers and agreed by Audit 

Committee. The Committee will receive regular reports on progress in 
response to the ISA 260 recommendations, which has been accepted entirely 
by the Council.   

 
 The ISA260 Action Plan has been reported to Management Board and is a 

core element of the Governance Action Plan. Progress reports on it will also 
be seen and considered by Management Board. 

 
  Reporting to Audit Committee: 
 

 A review of the reports being presented to Audit Committee has been 
 undertaken and enhanced reporting implemented, including on Debt recovery 
and internal audit.  Enhancements will include more detail, greater frequency 
and more transparency. 

 
 Internal Audit: 

 

 As agreed by the Audit Committee, there will be separate reporting and 
attendance at Audit Committee by the LGSS Internal Audit team to provide 
assurance in areas relevant to their role and responsibility to NBC. 

 

 A review of NBC Internal Audit and LGSS Internal Audit plans has been 
undertaken to ensure they complement each other and to ensure that there 
are no gaps or inconsistencies or clashes between these plans. This will 
continue to be reviewed each year in framing and then monitoring the Annual 
Audit Plans. 

 
3.5 CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance 
 
3.5.1 In framing the Governance Action Plan, officers have had regard to best 

practice and in particular the CIPFA/Solace Governance Framework. Advice 

40



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

has been taken in relation to this standard and its application in framing the 
actions most urgently needed.  

 
3.5.2 The CIPFA/Solace Framework is accepted as the local government best 

practice standard for good governance. Regulations require Councils to 
conduct a review at least once a year of the effectiveness of their system of 
internal control and include a statement reporting on the review with its 
statement of accounts. This statement from the 2016/17 financial year needs 
to comply with the newly established 2016 standard. 

 
3.5.3 Whilst the Council does have a local code which had regard to this Framework 

when last reviewed, there is a need to refresh this against the new 
CIPFA/SOLACE 2016 standard and to consider how we can further apply and 
test ourselves against this framework particularly given the issues identified by 
Internal and External Audit. 

 
3.5.4 The updated CIPFA/Solace Framework provides structure, a clear framework 

and a good opportunity to revisit and develop good governance in all the 
Council’s activities. Whilst this has been borne in mind in framing the 
Governance Action Plan, the adoption of best practice requires more detailed 
consideration of the Framework. To this end, the Council will conduct a more 
in-depth self-assessment of its current position against the new standard as an 
early priority in the Governance Action Plan. This will include a further gap 
analysis and action plan to address weaknesses/non-compliance with the 
standard. The Council will update the local code and will report against the 
Code to Audit Committee on a regular basis. It is also the intention to obtain 
external validation of achievement against the standard by an accredited 
assessor. 

 
3.5.5 In order to ensure delivery against this important objective, the new 

 Management Board as a whole are charged with delivering the standard, with 
the Governance and Support Programme Board leading the work, supported 
by the Governance and Risk Manager. The Council is committed that good 
governance must be part of the culture required of members and officers. 
Achieving this standard will be a key performance objective of all senior 
managers. 

 
3.6 Audit Recommendations 
 
3.6.1 One further area of identified weakness for the Authority is the monitoring and 

 reporting of delivery against audit recommendations, both internal and 
external. The Council has now implemented a specialist, proprietary software 
programme developed by Price Waterhouse Coopers. This software has 
already been implemented and is being used to track the status and progress 
of audit recommendations and reports from it will form part of the Council’s 
performance management system.  

 
3.6.2 With immediate effect, all audit recommendations will be reported to Audit 

Committee and at each meeting the Committee will be updated as to progress 
against every audit recommendation. To ensure that this is thorough, 
monitoring will be initially retrospective so that the Committee can be aware of 

41



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

all progress on reports issued in the last two financial years and monitor 
progress against recommendations in those reports. 

 
3.7 Risk Management 

3.7.1 Risk management is a key priority in the Governance Action Plan. Officers 
have been working with Internal Audit support to address weaknesses in risk 
management and this work needs to have additional capacity and impetus 
behind it. The additional capacity mentioned earlier in this report is critical to 
ensuring that this happens. 

3.7.2 The Council is in the process of reviewing its risk management policy with 
external experts and will be in a position to report the changes to the next 
available Audit Committee.  

3.7.3 Critical to the development of better risk management is the development of a 
tighter culture of risk identification, assessment and mitigation, with proper and 
regular updates to assessments of risk. Significant progress has been made in 
this but again it needs further focus and impetus. Once again, update training 
and skills development in risk management is required and officers who are 
involved in any activity involved the identification, assessment or mitigation of 
risk will be required to have undertaken that development as part of their 
eligibility to under those roles. 

3.7.4 Price Waterhouse Coopers, the Council’s Internal Auditors, have been working 
with officers to support Management Board in refreshing and updating the 
strategic risk register. The focus of the risk work in the Governance Action 
Plan is on embedding and creating a stronger risk management culture and to 
ensure compliance with the need to manage risks properly. 

3.7.5 In addition to the above the Council has implemented the following specific 
steps to address some of the identified risk management issues: 

 Expert resource has been commissioned and has started work on 
reviewing the adequacy of all risk registers for all current projects against 
a predetermined checklist. 

 Project support through the LGSS contract has been focussed on 
reviewing and addressing risk management policies and practices. This 
support will shortly transfer back to NBC by mutual agreement with LGSS. 

 Specialist expert support has been commissioned to address risk issues 
and due diligence issues identified specifically in Internal Audit and 
external Audit reports. 

3.8 Cabinet Clearance Processes 
 
3.8.1 One area of weakness identified by Internal Audit in their report on Sixfields 

was the level of detail that was available to Cabinet when the in-principle loan 
decision was made in 2013.  

 
3.8.2 Whilst not challenging the legality of the decision-making the report makes 

clear the need for the Council to have developed its own Business Case to 
support the decision to make the loans and that this was presented to Cabinet 
at the time the decision was made. Officers fully accept this guidance from its 

42



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

Internal Auditors and the requirements for fully developed and supported 
reports to Cabinet will be enforced through the Officer Cabinet clearance and 
call over processes, with immediate effect. 

 
3.8.3 In addition, changes have been made by officers to the processes used to 

review and clear any Cabinet reports. These include that reports need to be 
assessed and cleared at Management Board at two stages of their 
preparation, and that more time needs to be given in the process to 
consideration by the statutory officers. 

 
3.8.4 Tighter monitoring of Cabinet decisions, their implementation and compliance 

with the agreed recommendations of Cabinet is also being implemented. This 
will include tighter consideration of the circumstances in which delegated 
decisions should be referred back to Cabinet if there have been changes in 
the context applying to any decision that was delegated by Cabinet.  
Monitoring will be reported to the Leader of the Council and Audit Committee. 

  
4.  Implications (including financial implications) 

 
4.1  Policy 
 
4.1.1 There will be various impacts on current policy. The Governance Action Plan 

will ensure that all policies that are relevant are tightened and compliance 
against these monitored and reported upon through the governance structure 
and to the Audit Committee. 

 
4.2  Resources and Risk 
 
4.2.1 The additional capacity required to implement the Governance Action Plan will 

be put in place through normal decision-making processes. Financial 
implications will be reported through the budget process.  

 
4.3  Legal 
  
4.3.1 The Council has various legal duties and obligations to ensure best value and 

continuous improvement. The actions in the Governance Action Plan directly 
address identified weaknesses and will assist in enabling the Council to 
demonstrate that it is complying with its legal duties. 

 
4.4  Equality 
 
4.4.1 Whilst there are no specific equality implications at this stage, various policies 

will be reviewed through the Governance Action Plan. All these reviews will be 
supported by equality and community impact assessments. 

 
4.5  Consultees (Internal and External) 
 
4.5.1 Internal consultation has taken place with Management Board and other 

senior officers, LGSS finance, and Internal Audit and External Audit on the 
matters in the Governance Action Plan and external expert advice has been 
taken where required. 

 

43



Audit Committee Template/24/11/16 

4.6  Other Implications 
 
4.6.1 None specifically 

 
5.  Background Papers 

 
5.1 External Audit ISA260 for 2015/16 
5.2 Internal Audit report on Loan made to Northampton Town Football Club 
 

 
David Kennedy, Chief Executive 

Francis Fernandes, Borough Secretary 
Glenn Hammons, Chief Finance Officer 

44



Page 1 of 7 
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\2\1\ai00047126\$ytymlzgs.docx 
 

Governance Action Plan - Appendix 1 

Headline Issue Governance Action Plan Progress To Date Owner 

This action plan addresses each and every one of the eleven recommendations in the PwC report on Sixfields.   
 

Priority 1 – Risk Management 

a. Review of all 
policy and 
procedures 
including risk  
 

 Review and refresh current risk policy and 
framework 
o Ensuring effectiveness 
o Apply learning from the Internal Audit 

Report 

 Review and refresh all related policies and 
important policies 

 Risk management training of key officer and 
member groups  

 Review schedule for policies and procedures 
to be devised for 6 monthly/annual and bi 
annual reviews 

 Refresh and cascade risk strategy and 
framework 

 Policy and procedures index completed 

 Policies and procedures index published on the 
intranet  

 Review of risk policy and framework underway with 
the assistance of specialist external support 

 

Borough 
Secretary 
 
Chief Finance 
Officer 

b. Embedding of risk 
within the 
organisation 
through training 

 Review and log all projects currently live and 
in the pipeline  

 Carry out in-depth risk, review of high 
value/high impact projects 

 Specialist risk management training to 
become mandatory for all Officers involved 
in projects. This to apply to current projects 
and future projects 

 Specialist training, workshops arranged and 
delivered with external and internal 
resources and in consultation with the 
Council‟s internal auditors 

 Risk reporting to be reviewed ensuring that 
there is an effective cascade of risk through 
governance arrangements 

 Refreshed monitoring and tracking process 
o i.e. project/service risks may also 

become a corporate risk 

 PwC by 25th November 2016 will have assessed the 
„As Is‟ risk management position; undertaken a gap 
analysis and devising a risk management action 
plan 

 Northampton Alive project summary with pipelines 
projects are reviewed monthly for the Northampton 
Alive programme board 

 Re-provision of environmental services risk register 
reviewed by 25th November 2016 

 Improvement project summary and pipeline projects 
are reported monthly  

 IT project summary with pipeline projects are 
reviewed bi-monthly by the IT Governance Board 

 Audit of Northampton Alive project risk registers 
underway as the first stage of high value/high 
impact projects 

 Specialist risk training in the process of being 
commissioned 

Borough 
Secretary 
 
Chief Finance 
Officer c. Proper reporting 

of risk through the 
current 
governance 
process 

d. Review of current 
project risk 
processes  

45



Page 2 of 7 
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\2\1\ai00047126\$ytymlzgs.docx 
 

 Clarity on risk exception reporting process 
o Corporate, service and project risks 

reviewed monthly  

 Establish and embed risk management 
surgeries   

 Review of risk policy and framework 

Priority 2 – Due Diligence (including Loans to Third Parties) 

a. Review of current 
loans 

 Review existing loan agreements against 
lessons learnt identified by PwC 

 A summary of existing loans and key 
documentation has been compiled and is in 
one centralised place 

 All non-committed loans held pending due 
diligence checks 

 All non-committed loans to comply with 
checklist 

 Mandatory requirement for legal and 
financial close down reports implemented 

Chief Finance Officer  
 
Borough Secretary 

b. Review of due 
diligence process 
and 
implementation of 
enhanced due 
diligence 

 Establish an extensive due diligence 
compliance checklist for 3rd party loans 

 Establish a due diligence and compliance 
Manual 

 Review Treasury Management Strategy to 
ensure it is fit for purpose with regards to 3rd 
party loans 

 Ensure that all future 3rd party loans are 
reviewed by an external advisor and that 
review considered in all decisions before 
loan is granted 

 3rd party loans checklist has been 
developed and reviewed by the Council‟s 
banker Barclays 

 Treasury Management Strategy was 
updated to reflect 3rd party loans in Feb 
2014 and has been refreshed annually. 

Chief Finance Officer  
 
Borough Secretary 

Priority 3 – Project and Programme Support 

a. Transfer of 
programme and 
project capacity 
from LGSS to 
NBC 

 Transfer to be completed on 1st January 
2017 

 Consultation underway 

 Expedite transfer back through 
TUPE/secondment 

 Reallocation of priorities to due diligence 
and compliance 

Borough Secretary 

b. Review of 
Corporate 
Governance for 
Programme and 
Project 

 Develop and implement enhanced Corporate 
Project and Programme Management  
framework and arrangements.  To include a 
Corporate Governance & Support Officer 
Programme Board; Northampton Alive 

 An enhanced Corporate and Programme 
management structure has been 
developed with expert external input 

 Structure implemented with immediate 
effect 

Borough Secretary 

46



Page 3 of 7 
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\2\1\ai00047126\$ytymlzgs.docx 
 

Governance Officer Programme Board and an 
Efficiency/MTFS Officer Programme Board  

 Increase officer capacity in 
programme/project governance  

 Mandatory gateway training for Officers 
involved in Programmes and Projects 

 All relevant projects will go through a 
“gateway” process:  
o Categorise and apply rigorous but 

proportionate methodologies and 
documentation 

o Requirement for a Project Initiation 
Document (PID), minuted project 
/programme meetings and a full risk 
assessment 

o Programmes/projects will be required to 
be maintained on central paper records, 
with clear documented minutes of 
meetings and professional advice 
received 

 Each project/programme will require the 
completion of a declaration of interests form 
by each participant (member or officer or 
advisor) 

 Mandatory training programme on the 
Council‟s constitution, including contract 
procedure rules and financial procedure 
rules for all managers in the authority 

 

 JD and Person Specification for the role of 
Governance and Risk Manager in the 
process of being prepared 
o Input to be provided by PwC  

 Increased project support capacity agreed 
and currently being provided by a 
temporary staff member  

 Increased focus of Internal Audit activity on 
Programme and Project management, 
currently in the Regeneration area and this 
to continue for a minimum 3 years 

 Temporary Recruitment of project staff 
completed and operational 

 Transfer back of LGSS project staff 
currently underway 

Priority 4 – ISA260 Recommendation Action Plan 

a. Delivery of 
ISA260 Action 
Plan 

 Implementation  Action Plan agreed by Audit 
Committee on 14th November 2016 

 Progress was reported to Audit Committee 
at its meeting on 14th November 2016 

 Further iterations prepared since 14th 
November 2016 and further action 
completed  

 Audit Committee agreed to receive update 
reports at future meetings  

Chief Finance Officer  

47



Page 4 of 7 
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\2\1\ai00047126\$ytymlzgs.docx 
 

Priority 5 – Internal Audit Recommendations  

a. Review internal 
audit 
recommendations 

 Review all internal audit recommendations 
since June 2013 

 Assess delivery of all internal audit 
recommendations since June 2013 where 
not already delivered. 

 All PwC audit reports since June 2013 
were notified to Audit Committee at its 
meeting on 14th November 2016 

 All internal audit recommendations (PwC 
and LGSS) have been collated and are in 
the process of being reviewed  

Chief Finance Officer 

b. Improve reporting 
of internal audit 
recommendations 

 Improve internal audit reporting to Audit 
Committee 

 Report progress on delivery of internal audit 
recommendations to Audit Committee 

 Implement PwC audit recommendation 
tracking software, TrAction  

 Regular reporting / monitoring to and by 
management board/audit committee 

 At Audit Committee on 14th November 
2016 reports were presented by both 
internal audit providers, PwC and LGSS 
demonstrating enhanced reporting 

 Regular meetings between PwC, LGSS 
and Finance have been taking place to 
review audit plans to ensure they 
complement each other.  

 TrAction internal audit recommendation 
tracking system has been implemented for 
all PwC recommendations and rolled out to 
appropriate staff at NBC  

 LGSS internal audit recommendation have 
been tracked using their own software 
since June 2013 

Chief Finance Officer 

Priority 6 – Effective Decisions – Cabinet Clearance Process 

a. Call over process  Revise and cascade changes to the  call 
over process 

 Evaluation period and process for the new 
arrangements 

 Deliver training on standards requirements 

 Deliver training on Equality Impact 
Assessments 
 

 Call over process reviewed 

 Two stage Call Over Process implemented 
with Management Board oversight of 
standards and content of reports 

 Deadlines published on the intranet to 
assist Officers 

 
 
 

Chief Executive 

b. Outline of 
process 

c. Report writing 
guide 

 Provide better Cabinet clearance report 
guidance 

 Requirement for “frontloading” of full 
information at the Cabinet clearance stage  

 

 Initial Cabinet report writing guide 
developed and issued 

 More comprehensive guide addressing 
compliance issues to be developed and 
issued 

48



Page 5 of 7 
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\2\1\ai00047126\$ytymlzgs.docx 
 

 Focus on compliance 

d. Cabinet 
clearance 

 Review process for formal clearance 

 Review and refresh clearance process 

 Basic guidelines on Cabinet process 
circulated 

 Clearance subject to compliance with final 
Council business case  

 Reports to contain adequate and evidenced 
information to support decision needed  

 Requirement for regularly reporting back to 
cabinet on significant projects  

 Relevant decisions to have mandatary and 
financial business models produced by the 
Council  

 Cabinet report writing guide published and 
implemented to include issues raised in 6 d 
and e. 

 Recommendations in the PwC report on 
Sixfields, implemented and enforced 
immediately by statutory officers 
  

Borough Secretary 
 
Chief Finance Officer 

e. Report 
compliance 

 Monitoring of Cabinet decisions, 
implementation and compliance, including 
delegated decisions.  To include regular 
reporting to the Leader and Audit 
Committee. 

   

Priority 7 - Governance 

a. Corporate 
Governance 
review 

 Carry out fundamental review of all  current 
NBC governance arrangements against the 
CIPFA/SOLACE 2016 standard 
o Full gap analysis and action plan to 

address any identified weaknesses 
o Update the local code with annual 

reporting against the Code to Audit 
Committee  

 
 

 Initial advice given by external expert 

 Review to be undertaken as a defined 
project 

 Scope, timelines and identification of 
resources for the review in the process of 
being prepared 

 

Borough Secretary 
 
Management Board 

b. CIPFA/Solace 
External 
Validation 

o External validation support of progress 
against the standard 

 

Accreditation assurance options being actively 
considered 

Chief Executive 

Priority 8 – Financial Governance 

a. Improve 
Purchase Order 
Process 

 Communicate importance of raising 
purchase orders with budget managers 

 Enhance reporting of non-compliant 

 Finance team have communicated with all 
managers the benefits to financial 
governance and management of purchase 

Chief Finance Officer 

49



Page 6 of 7 
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\2\1\ai00047126\$ytymlzgs.docx 
 

purchase orders to Management Board, 
Directorate Management Teams and Service 
Management Teams by improving 
dashboard 

 Write to suppliers to inform them they must 
request an order number for any NBC work 

 Review system controls and implement 
improvements 

order, including training on the process 
through monthly meeting with budget 
managers. 

 Monthly reporting of non-compliant 
purchase order is now part of the financial 
dashboard reported at management teams 
throughout the Council. 

 A letter to suppliers has been drafted. 

b. Review and 
improve reserves 
drawdown 
process 

 Review the reserves drawdown process 

 Improve compliance 

 Improve reporting 

 Reserves drawdown form has been 
updated to include enhanced signed off 

 All reserve drawdowns are reported to 
Management Board as part of monthly 
financial dashboard 

 Quarterly Finance reports to Cabinet 
include a list of reserves drawdowns 

Chief Finance Officer 

c. Review and 
improve 
supplementary 
estimate process 

 Review the supplementary process 

 Improve compliance 

 Improve reporting 

 Supplementary estimate process has been 
reviewed 

 A new supplementary estimate form has 
been introduced 

Chief Finance Officer 

d. Review and 
improve virement 
process 

 Review virement process 

 Improve compliance 
Improve reporting 

 Virement process is currently under review 
reviewed 

Chief Finance Officer 

e. Improve 
management of 
capital 
programme 

 Establish a gateway process for progressing 
schemes through each stage of their capital 
programme lifecycle 

 Gateway approach in process of 
development as part of budget planning 
work for 2017/18 

Chief Finance Officer 

f. Raise financial 
awareness 

 Mandatory training covering all aspects of 
financial management 

 Tailored training for specific staff depending 
upon requirements of role (budget 
management, business cases/plans, 
financial administration) 

 Establish approach to validate/evidence 
learning 

 Training material in process of being 
developed. 

Chief Finance Officer 

Priority 9 - Miscellaneous 

a. Whistleblowing  Effective Whistleblowing arrangements  The current Whistleblowing Policy has 
been reviewed and uploaded on the 

Borough Secretary 

50



Page 7 of 7 
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\2\1\ai00047126\$ytymlzgs.docx 
 

intranet. 

 Consideration being given to provide 
external whistleblowing reporting 

 Consideration being given to increase the 
profile of Whistleblowing 

b. Officer & Member 
hospitality 

 Review policy and guidance 

 Publish guidance  
 

 Review of guidance currently underway 

 Compliance  audit to be undertaken as part 
of the next internal Audit Plan 

 Regular Reporting to Standards Committee 

 Training on register currently being 
delivered to members 

 Training planned for Council Officers 

 Written guidance on registering interests 
being prepared for Officers and members 

 

Borough Secretary 

c. Cabinet process  Review Cabinet clearance process 

 Identify risks from lack of compliance 

 Report writing Guide and compliance 
standards 

 Standards in place and adhered to 

 Financial clearing process in place 

 Timely reporting meeting legal requirement 

Chief Executive 

 

51



Option for Renewed Governance Arrangements 

 

Members 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Member and Officer Executive Meetings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Officers 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note: Other officer and member or joint bodies exist which are not shown in detail on this diagram 

Northampton Alive Officer 

Programme Board 

Lead: Regeneration Director of Regeneration 

Enterprise and Planning 

 Assets 

 Capital Programme 

 Housing Development 

 Key Capital Projects 

 Place Marketing 

Corporate Governance & Support 

Officer Programme Board 

Lead: Borough Secretary 

 Governance 

 Risk  

 Business Continuity 

 Audit 

 LGSS 

 Legal 

 ICT  

 Performance 

Efficiency/MTFS Officer 

Programme Board 

Lead: Director of Customers and 

Communities 

 Efficiency Plan 

 Service Projects 
 

Project Boards Project Boards Project Boards 

Project Level 

Executive Programme Board 

Management Board 

Lead: Chief Executive 

Overall Management and 

Governance 

Policy and Budget Framework 

 

Audit Committee 

Cabinet 

DMTs 

Full Council  

Corporate Asset Board Capital Programme Board 

Regulatory Committees 

 

Cabinet Member/DMT meetings 

Transformation and People Officer 

Programme Board 

Lead: Chief Executive 

52

epowley
Text Box
Appendix 2


	Agenda
	5 Internal Audit Report on loan policies and procedures relating to loan finance to Northampton Town Football Club
	NTFC report

	6 Governance Action Plan
	Appendix 1 Final
	Appendix 2




